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Group business model

Combined management report of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft 
and the GEA Group
GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft is the management company for the group. Profit and loss transfer 

agreements exist with key domestic subsidiaries. In addition, GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft 

performs central financial and liquidity management. It also provides its subsidiaries with services 

on the basis of service agreements. 

Since the course of business, the economic position, and the opportunities and risks associated with 

the future development of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft do not differ from the course of business, 

the economic position, and the opportunities and risks associated with the future development of the 

group, the management report of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft has been combined with that of the 

group in accordance with section 315 (3) of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial 

Code). In contrast to the consolidated IFRS financial statements, the annual financial statements of 

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft are based on the HGB, supplemented by the Aktiengesetz (AktG – 

German Stock Corporation Act).

Organization and structure

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft
The listed GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft with its new Global Corporate Center performs the essential 

management functions for the entire group. These comprise the group-wide management of strategy, 

human resources, legal, and tax matters, mergers & acquisitions, central financial management, 

internal auditing and marketing.

The group
As an international technology group, GEA focuses on the development and production of process 

technology and components for sophisticated and efficient production methods in a variety of end 

markets. GEA is one of the largest suppliers of systems and components for the food processing 

industry and a wide range of other processing industries.

The group is a specialist in its respective core technologies and a leader in its sales markets worldwide. 

GEA consistently promotes an innovation-led culture, continuously renewing its technological edge. It 

considers profitability more important than volume and practices systematic portfolio management and 

strict cost control. Active risk management, stability through diversification, and a focus on the markets 

of the future are binding principles for all GEA business units.

The group’s enduring success is founded on a number of major global trends:

1. The continuous growth in the global population,

2. The growing middle class, 

3. The growing demand for high-quality foods and beverages,

4. The increasing demand for production methods that are efficient and conserve valuable resources.
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Group structure up to June 8, 2015
Prior to the implementation on June 8, 2015 of GEA’s new group structure, which was developed as 

part of the “Fit for 2020” initiative, the group was organized in 4 segments, which were allocated to 

continued operations. GEA Process Engineering was headed by Jürg Oleas and GEA Mechanical 

Equipment and GEA Refrigeration Technologies by Markus Hüllmann. Dr. Stephan Petri was 

responsible for the GEA Farm Technologies segment. 

The “Other” reporting segment comprised GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft and those companies with 

business activities that did not form part of the core business. In the main, this meant internal 

service companies. 

Detailed in the following are the business segments allocated to continued operations as they existed 

prior to the implementation of the new group structure developed as part of the “Fit for 2020” 

initiative:

GEA Farm Technologies segment

The integrated product solutions for profitable dairy and livestock farming were bundled together in the 

GEA Farm Technologies segment. The segment’s combined expertise in the areas of milking and milk-

cooling technology, automatic feeding systems, manure management systems, and barn equipment has 

made GEA the leading manufacturer in this field and provides modern farming with a complete range of 

products and solutions. Services and animal hygiene solutions round off its profile as a full-line systems 

provider for farms of all sizes. The sales strategy is built on a global network of specialist dealers as well 

as sales and service partners.

GEA Mechanical Equipment segment 

The portfolio of GEA’s Mechanical Equipment segment comprised separators, decanters, valves, 

pumps, and homogenizers. In virtually all key areas of industry, this equipment ensures perfectly 

functioning processes while giving rise to cost-optimized production cycles. Process technology for 

secondary food processing and packaging extends the product portfolio, with the offering ranging 

from individual machines to end-to-end production lines. GEA helps ensure high product quality, 

reduce customers’ production costs, and sustainably protect the environment.

GEA Process Engineering segment 

GEA Process Engineering was responsible for the design and development of process solutions for 

the dairy, brewing, food, pharma, and chemical industries. GEA is an acknowledged market and 

technology leader in its business areas: liquid processing, concentration, industrial drying, powder 

processing and handling, and emission control. 

GEA Refrigeration Technologies segment

GEA is a market leader in the field of industrial refrigeration technology. Its Refrigeration 

Technologies segment designed, engineered, and installed technological solutions and innovative key 

components for its customers. GEA’s product range comprises the core components of reciprocating 

and screw compressors, valves, chillers, ice generators and freezing systems. To guarantee complete 

customer satisfaction, GEA also offers a broad range of maintenance and other services.
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Group structure since June 8, 2015
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Following intensive preparations, GEA’s new group structure – which was developed as part of its 

“Fit for 2020” initiative – was implemented on June 8, 2015. With this new structure, GEA aims to 

bring about substantial savings, promote further growth, and enhance its customer orientation. 

Known as “OneGEA”, this new integrated structure will see the development and manufacturing of 

products, and the provision of process solutions and services bundled in two new business areas (BA) 

– Equipment and Solutions. In the year under review, the Business Area Equipment was headed at 

Board level by Markus Hüllmann, while Jürg Oleas was responsible for the Business Area Solutions. 

The previous operating segments of the group were reorganized as a result. Thus, the former GEA 

Mechanical Equipment and GEA Farm Technologies segments were allocated to the Business Area 

Equipment, while GEA Process Engineering now belongs to the Business Area Solutions. The former 

GEA Refrigeration Technologies segment was split between the Business Areas Equipment and 

Solutions, with the goodwill attributable to the former segment being reallocated based on the 

relative values as of the reorganization date. 

This new structure with two business areas of roughly equal size and strength promises greater 

operational synergies across technologies and applications, and helps achieve functional excellence 

by standardizing processes.

The “Other companies” area comprises GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft and those companies with 

business activities that do not form part of the core business. These include companies that report 
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investment property held for sale, and pension obligations. The management report refers to this 

area only selectively. 

Operating segments

Business Area Equipment

The Business Area Equipment brings together all activities ranging from customer-specific to largely 

standardized equipment offerings. The products are mainly manufactured as part of series production 

on a standardized and modular basis. Typical products of the business area include separators, valves, 

pumps, homogenizers, and refrigeration equipment such as compressors. The portfolio of equipment 

also includes process technology for food processing and packaging. The product range also extends to 

dairy equipment, feeding systems, and slurry engineering.

Business Area Solutions

The Business Area Solutions brings together all group activities that largely consist of marketing 

customer-specific and modular solutions, and projects. This business area tailors its products and 

services to the specific application or customer requirements. The offering mainly comprises the 

design and development of process solutions for the dairy processing, brewing, food and beverages, 

pharma, and chemical industries.

Organizational units 

National organizations

The new structure unifies customer-centric sales and service activities under the umbrella of a single 

country organization, with the countries grouped under newly created regions. GEA’s reporting 

processes are also geared to the new regional structure. GEA’s customers now have a single national 

organization per country as the central point of contact offering the entire product portfolio and all 

services on a local basis. Bringing together the previous large number of sales and service companies 

will strengthen local competencies, realize existing potential synergies even more efficiently, and 

raise awareness of the common brand GEA in the market. The national organizations are each led by 

a managing director and are divided into two categories, depending on the market’s size and growth 

potential. The large and medium-sized national organizations have separate functions for Equipment 

sales and Solutions sales. In addition, they have a service business, a supply chain function (including 

local logistics, warehousing, and local procurement), and operational marketing. A small national 

organization has a joint sales organization and a service business. The countries are in turn grouped 

under six regions. A regional head, which is at the same time a managing director of a country of this 

region and agrees on country strategies, drives forward market entries, coordinates activities between 

countries, and allocates resources across countries.

Administration

The administrative functions were streamlined and more strongly standardized, and will now be 

managed considerably more centrally, in order to ensure uniform high process standards globally as 

well as cost savings. The Global Corporate Center is the central port of call for all supporting 

management and administrative functions, which so far have mostly been organized locally at the 

operating units. A Shared Service Center with two locations will take care of the implementation of 
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standardized administrative processes in the future, thus reducing the workload for the operating 

units. The expenses of the Global Corporate Center and of the Shared Service Centers will be 

allocated to the business areas wherever possible. 

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations comprise the remaining risks from the sale of GEA Heat Exchangers and of 

the plant engineering activities, especially Lurgi and Lentjes, and the continued process of 

winding-up past discontinued operations, including individual legal disputes arising from them.

Capital expenditure

GEA develops and engineers specialized components, largely on a make-to-order basis, and also 

designs process solutions for a broad range of customer industries. The focus is on the food and 

beverage sectors. With its global engineering and production network, the group is able to provide 

customers with solutions that are precisely tailored to their individual requirements. Customers also 

benefit from our flexible production concepts, which ensure fast throughput and low costs, and 

minimize the capital tied up.

As in the previous year, the main portion by far of capital expenditure amounting to EUR 90.7 million 

(previous year: EUR 93.8 million) went on research and development, and on new products 

(49.4 percent). The development of a new generation of the robot milker and of the DairyProQ fully 

automated milking system are good examples in this context. Replacement investments accounted for 

20.8 percent of total capital expenditure, followed by rationalization projects, which accounted for 

14.0 percent. EUR 61.4 million of the capital expenditure was attributable to the Business Area 

Equipment, and EUR 23.5 million to the Business Area Solutions.

New products/R&D
Replacement
Growth
Rationalisation
Others

Capital expenditure in tangible and intangible assets 
per type
(in %)

20.8

6.9

14.0

8.9

49.4

In regional terms, capital expenditure focused primarily on Germany (58.7 percent) and the rest of 

Western Europe (26.6 percent), due to the high proportion of research and development activities in 

these areas.
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Germany
Western Europe (without Germany)
Asia Pacific
Other regions

Capital expenditure in tangible and intangible assets 
by region 
(in %)

58.7
26.6

5.5

9.2

Procurement 

In 2015, the procurement volume of GEA’s continuing operations amounted to around EUR 2.2 billion. 

On average, the price of virtually all the finished and semifinished industrial products purchased by GEA 

in the procurement market fell moderately in comparison to the previous year. The drop in raw material 

prices also had a positive impact on GEA in 2015. That said, the sale of the former GEA Heat Exchangers 

segment significantly reduced direct copper and aluminum purchases, so that stainless steel became the 

focus of raw material procurement. However, directly purchased stainless steel made up a relatively 

small proportion of the total requirement of this commodity as GEA buys most of its stainless steel from 

the market in the form of processed products.

GEA will continue to focus on strategic purchasing and also standardizing and consolidating cross-

segment procurement activities in order to reduce the risk of fluctuating prices and to guarantee 

security of supply.

The universal GEA Class material group classification provides the information needed to do this. As 

well as giving highly detailed insight into supplier data and how the procurement volume breaks 

down by region, the system also forms the basis for defining strategies for the principal commodity 

groups, and is available to all purchasing agents at GEA. The GEA Procurement Council (GPC) is 

responsible for the system. In 2015, the GPC was further engaged in unifying intensively the group’s 

strategic procurement operations.

The new OneGEA organization aims to advance and provide significant support to the enduring 

policy of collaboration adopted by the GPC. Founded on two robust supply-chain units embedded in 

the Business Areas Equipment and Solutions, the new organization provides a raft of opportunities 

for further consolidating strategic suppliers and deriving synergies from the standardization of 

material specifications.
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Management system

Basis of information 

Group reports are prepared with the aid of standard applications that are precisely tailored to the 

needs of GEA and subject to continuous enhancement. Standard reports prepared on the basis of 

unified data are used throughout the group to report net assets, financial position, and results of 

operations. These standard reports are supplemented by special analyses as well as analyses and 

reports related to specific businesses and strategic measures. Corporate planning, which – besides 

several forecasts for the current year, and the budget – covers a further two planning years, is based 

on the same reporting and consolidation system as that used for the reporting of actual figures. Risk 

reporting, too, is founded on the same technical basis. Within the framework of the OneGEA project, 

group reporting was further developed and adapted to fit the new management structures.

Routine reporting procedures are supplemented by committee meetings that provide members of the 

group management with an opportunity to share information on strategic and operational issues. 

Meetings of the Executive Board of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft and of the Extended Management 

Board (Global Leadership Team), which comprises the Executive Board members, the top management of 

the two Business Areas, the heads of the six sales regions and representatives of the Global Corporate 

Center (GCC) Finance, are held once a month. The Executive Board meetings concentrate on issues of 

relevance to the group as a whole, whereas decisions with a direct impact on the Business Areas and 

Regions are prepared in meetings of the Global Leadership Team, before passing to the Executive Board 

for approval. In addition, regular meetings are held with the individual Business Areas. These are 

attended by the competent Executive Board member along with the heads of the respective Business 

Area, and business partners of GCC Finance. Such meetings entail detailed discussions of the net assets, 

financial position, results of operations, and business development of the Business Area concerned. 

Separate meetings for each Business Area are also held to discuss earnings for the latest fiscal year and 

the business plan for the following years.

Key performance indicators

GEA’s overriding goal is to secure a sustainable increase in enterprise value. Operational management is 

based on the key drivers that have an immediate influence on value creation, with growth, operating 

efficiency, and liquidity management (see page 100). For this reason, the key performance indicators for 

GEA remain revenue, earnings, and the cash flow driver margin. Whereas these indicators were adjusted 

additionally for acquisition and exchange rate effects in fiscal year 2015 for the purpose of analyzing and 

managing earnings, these adjustments will no longer take place as from 2016. Acquisitions effected after 

the reporting date will not be taken into account in the forecast.

With respect to earnings, the company focuses on operating EBITDA. GEA defines “operating” as 

adjusted for effects resulting from the remeasurement of assets added due to acquisitions, and for 

expenses that are non-recurring in terms of their nature or magnitude. The cash flow driver margin 

(i.e. the net amount of EBITDA, the change in average working capital, and capital expenditures for 

property, plant, and equipment, and intangible assets) is also adjusted for non-recurring items. GEA 

also regularly collates a range of other performance indicators in order to obtain a meaningful 

picture of the overall situation.
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Revenue is analyzed by region and customer industry on a monthly basis in order to identify emerging 

market trends as early as possible. In this context, we also evaluate leading indicators: the GEA Demand 

Index (GDI – see page 88) and order intake. 

To enable a rapid response to developments, the Business Areas are also required to return regular 

forecasts – for the quarters and for the year as whole – for the key performance indicators revenue and 

operating EBITDA. In addition, these reports include forecasts of other performance indicators such as 

order intake and EBIT. 

In order to create the requisite financial scope to achieve strategic growth and to focus the group even 

more closely on cash flow generation, a new key performance indicator – the cash flow driver margin 

-was introduced in 2012 and was also incorporated into the bonus system for senior management. Since 

2014, this system has also been applied to a larger group of employees.

The return on capital employed (ROCE), calculated as the ratio of EBIT to capital employed, provides a 

further performance indicator for measuring the value added that is generated by the group’s operating 

activities. It therefore figures in both the group’s regular reporting activities and the calculation of 

variable, performance-related elements of management remuneration. In order to anchor ROCE even 

more strongly at an operational level, the ROCE drivers EBIT and EBIT margin, working capital – the key 

driver of capital employed – and the ratio of working capital to revenue are monitored continuously. 

When calculating capital employed, effects arising from the acquisition of the former GEA AG by the 

former Metallgesellschaft AG in 1999 are not taken into account. 

The difference between the expected ROCE and the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) is a key 

criterion for investment and portfolio decisions. The group calculates WACC on the basis of the 

following factors: the cost of equity, based on the return yielded by an alternative, risk-free investment 

plus a market risk premium and the beta factor, actual borrowing costs, and the rate used to discount 

pension obligations.

Management of capital employed

Resources are allocated within the group primarily on the basis of strategic and medium-term 

planning. This provides the framework for preparing key decisions on core technologies, sales 

markets, and other strategically important variables.

Acquisitions and expansion investments are assessed not only on the basis of key performance 

indicators showing potential returns, but also in terms of their importance for achieving the group’s 

strategic goals. The key economic criterion for evaluating rationalization and expansion investments 

is the net present value. The payback period is also calculated as an additional benchmark for 

assessing the risk arising from changing economic conditions. 

Working capital is another key element of capital employed. Working capital management begins 

before an order is accepted with the payment terms that are offered or negotiated.
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Project- and activity-based management 

In addition to general management with the aid of the key performance indicators described above, the 

group has established individual assessment and approval procedures for customer and investment 

projects, utilizing specific thresholds for the different hierarchy levels. Customer projects are evaluated 

primarily on the basis of their expected margins (gross margin on a fully absorbed cost basis) and of their 

commercial and contractual risk profile, with a particular emphasis on cash flow. Project management is 

also backed up by extensive project control not only at operating unit level but also – depending on the size 

of the project involved – at Business Area or group level in the form of a separate reporting system for 

major projects. In many cases, the findings gained from this analysis yield suggestions for improving 

internal processes, which can be used in subsequent projects. At group level, the analysis focuses on 

deviations between the calculated and the expected or realized contract margin.

Compliance 

Compliance in the sense of measures designed to ensure adherence to legal, statutory and internal 

corporate policies, as well as compliance therewith by group companies, is considered to be a key 

management and supervisory responsibility at GEA. For this purpose, the Company established a 

compliance organization some years ago. Corruption prevention, antitrust law, export control, and 

data protection are the focus of group-wide compliance activities. The Chief Compliance Officer 

coordinates the implementation of compliance measures, especially in these areas. In this function, 

he reports to both the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee. The Chief 

Compliance Officer is assisted in his duties by the legal compliance and operating export control 

organization. GEA’s extensive compliance program is rounded off by classroom and web-based 

training sessions for the group employees responsible for compliance, as well as by the Integrity 

System, which was introduced throughout GEA worldwide in 2014. Further information on 

compliance can be found in the Corporate Governance Report (see page 64 ff.).

Remuneration system and financial performance management 

Changes in the key value drivers are also reflected in the remuneration of employees not covered by 

collective agreements. Variable salary components dependent on company performance are determined 

on the basis of the cash flow driver margin and ROCE. In addition, performance-related remuneration 

depends on the achievement of personal goals, of which at least one must be measurable in financial 

terms. A further remuneration component is based on GEA’s share price performance in relation to the 

benchmark index, the STOXX® Europe TMI Industrial Engineering (TMI IE).
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Research and development 

In today’s global markets, an engineering corporation such as GEA needs to show an enduring 

commitment to permanently enhancing its own processes and technologies. It is this culture of 

innovation that helps secure its enduring commercial success. In addition to pursuing its own intensive 

research and development activities, the group also supports cooperative research projects with its 

customers and suppliers.

GEA’s focus on product leadership is underpinned by the fact that around 40 percent of the company’s 

employees are engineers or perform engineering-related roles. Over 800 of these employees are 

assigned to product development. As a result of their work, GEA companies filed applications for a total 

of 114 (previous year: 109) new patent families in the past fiscal year.

The culture of innovation at GEA can also be seen from its innovation competitions. The GEA Innovation 

Contest, which has been running with great success for a number of years now, provides a showcase for 

development projects that are potentially less than twelve months away from marketability. The winners 

of various pre-selection competitions get to present their projects during one day of the annual 

international meeting of the group’s senior managers, who then rate the most promising developments 

in terms of four criteria, namely market opportunities, earnings potential, chance of realization, and 

level of innovation. Four new products received awards in 2015, spanning areas such as the manufacture of 

instant coffee, automatic livestock milking, self-priming centrifugal pumps, and the fermentation process 

of dough.

In conventional coffee bean extraction for the manufacture of instant coffee powder, the final yield 

barely exceeds 50 percent. The award-winning process represents a completely new concept. The 

enhanced two-stage grinding process increases the surface area of the coffee powder, thus paving the 

way for gentler aroma extraction and hydrolysis at a lower temperature level. All this results in a better 

taste experience more closely resembling that of fresh coffee, not to mention a reduction in energy 

consumption. The next stage in the manufacturing process is enzyme treatment to break down a 

greater proportion of the ground coffee, thereby considerably increasing the yield to an impressive 

70 percent. This represents a significant advance, as over two-thirds of the entire cost of manufacturing 

instant coffee goes on the coffee beans themselves. All in all, the increased yield and improved taste 

clearly add value for GEA customers, and costs are expected to be amortized quickly. 

Automatic milking systems are becoming increasingly popular – not only among large dairy farms, but 

also among smaller ones also seeking to benefit from greater flexibility in their daily routine, improved 

ergonomics at the workplace and more efficient use of their personnel resources. With a view to meeting 

the needs of very differently-sized farms, GEA has developed a unique platform technology in respect of 

which a number of patent applications have been filed. The modular platform covers the entire range of 

milking systems, from single-box milking robots all the way to rotary milking parlors. This new 

generation of milking robots is more efficient and easier to install. It has also helped to improve animal 

health monitoring and reduce customers’ operating costs.

Combined Group Management Report / Fundamental information about the group



32 GEA Annual Report 2015

Centrifugal pumps are used to convey low-viscosity liquids from one container to the next. Although 

conventional centrifugal pumps ensure efficiency and hygiene as well as gentle product handling, they 

are not self-priming. Self-priming additionally enables the pumps to convey liquids containing gas or 

foam, or to evacuate gas from extensive pipe systems before suctioning liquids. In the past, liquid ring 

pumps were generally used. Although self-priming was possible with these pumps, they did not offer the 

advantages outlined above. The GEA TPS VARIFLOW is a new, self-priming centrifugal pump that 

combines the functional principles and benefits of both types of pump. A patent application has been 

filed for its newly developed flow control system. 

Large industrial bakeries are becoming increasingly important. Such establishments are particularly 

interested in a continuous production process that makes efficient use of the available production 

space. This process generally involves a proofer, in which the bread or yeast dough is exposed to a 

warmer temperature and humidity during fermentation. Allowing the fermentation process to take 

place on the conveyor belt, or rather on a spiral belt, makes optimum use of the available production 

space, while simultaneously cutting energy costs. GEA is already applying this kind of spiral 

technology successfully in the form of the GEA Froster S-Tec. To transform this spiral froster into a 

spiral proofer, the air temperature has to be raised from minus 18 °C to plus 28 °C  – among a number 

of other modifications. This GEA Innovation Contest award winner also succeeded in developing an 

innovative air distribution system and adding an ultrasonic air humidifier. GEA spiral technology can 

thus be used to tap into a new growth market. 

As a result of this intensive research and development work, GEA succeeded in launching many new 

products in the past fiscal year, too, and presented them at more than 200 trade fairs. At the Anuga 

Foodtec fair, for example, GEA took home no fewer than three prizes: two of the four Dairy Technology 

Awards – for the efficient GEA ecoforce decanter family, and for GEA Provident Flow Analysis, a tool 

that integrates and optimizes overall production management in food processes – and an International 

Foodtec Award gold medal in the Process Technology category for the GEA MultiDrum. This machine 

sets new standards in the application of homestyle breading, increasing performance in terms of 

efficiency and a cleaner work environment. GEA also presented an innovative freeze concentration 

system for the first time at the Anuga Foodtec fair. This offers customers significantly lower acquisition 

and operating costs, while cutting space requirements by half. It was achieved by switching from a 

batch process to a patent-pending continuous process in which fruit juice, coffee, milk or delicate 

enzyme solutions are cooled until ice forms. The crystallizer ensures that an optimum amount of larger 

ice crystals is formed. This suspension is then separated into the concentrate and the ice in the 

downstream wash column. Fruit juice concentrate can be transported more cheaply and in a more 

environmentally friendly manner than the fruit juice itself. Coffee concentrate is processed into instant 

coffee and enzyme concentrates can be used, for example, to manufacture drugs. The competing 

alternatives to freeze concentration are vacuum evaporation and reverse osmosis. Since the 

temperatures used in these processes are only slightly higher, only very few vitamins are lost, for 
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example. However, with vacuum evaporation in particular, many volatile aromas are lost with the 

water and cannot all be retrieved.

In 2015, direct expenditure on research and development (R&D) before non-recurring items 

amounted to EUR 76.5 million, compared with EUR 77.7 million in the prior-year period. These 

figures also include refunded expenses (contract costs), which are reported in the cost of sales and 

which totaled EUR 10.8 million (previous year: EUR 9.6 million). The R&D ratio remained unchanged 

at 1.7 percent of revenue. In the reporting period, depreciation of capitalized development projects 

amounted to EUR 10.2 million. The capitalized development costs remained unchanged at 0.7 percent 

of revenue. Cash disbursements for research and development amounted to EUR 100.6 million, 

compared with EUR 96.1 million in the previous year. 

Research and development (R&D) expenses
(EUR million) 2015 2014

Change
in %

Refunded expenses (contract costs) 10.8 9.6 12.3

Non-refunded R&D expenses before non-recurring items 65.8 68.1 –3.5

Total R&D expenses 76.5 77.7 –1.6

R&D ratio (as % of revenue) 1.7 1.7 –

Total R&D cash disbursements 100.6 96.1 4.7

R&D ratio (as % of revenue) 2.2 2.1 –
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Report on Economic Position 

GEA in fiscal year 2015

The forecast for fiscal year 2015 assumed that demand in GEA’s sales markets would moderately 

exceed the high levels seen in 2014. Contrary to this assumption, growth in the emerging markets, in 

particular, was more sluggish than predicted at the start of 2015. Indeed, during the second half of the 

year, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) also had to reduce its forecast for global economic 

growth, adjusting the figures in the updates to the “World Economic Outlook” downwards in July and 

again in October (see page 35 f.). Growth was slower than initially forecasted in both the 

industrialized nations and the emerging markets – i.e. in all of GEA’s key markets (see IMF, World 

Economic Outlook, January 2016 update).

Growth rate projections

Actual
2015

January
2015

Moderate
Growth

April
2015

July
2015

October
2015

Outlook 
of IMF

Outlook
GEA

3.1%3.1%3.3%3.5%3.5%

1.9%
Moderate
Organic
Growth

Against a backdrop of ongoing weakness in the global economy – particularly in the emerging 

economies, including China – and a further reduction in IWF expectations for economic growth in 

2015, GEA also reduced its growth target for revenue in the third quarter. Measures to improve the 

earnings situation, however, coupled with a reduction in the investment volume enabled the group to 

raise expectations slightly for the cash flow driver margin in the financial report for the third quarter.

As announced in September 2015, GEA generated moderate revenue growth of 1.9 percent in 2015. 

Adjusted for exchange rate and acquisition effects, however, organic growth in revenue decreased by 

4.2 percent. Therefore, the moderate rise in revenue adjusted for exchange rate and acquisition 

effects predicted at the start of 2015 did not materialize. As expected, the former GEA Refrigeration 

Technologies segment posted above-average organic growth. The former GEA Mechanical Equipment 

and GEA Process Engineering segments posted slightly below average growth, which was also 

expected. The main reason for the surprisingly weak revenue figures of the former GEA Farm 

Technologies segment was the noticeable slump in milk prices.

In the 2014 Annual Report, operating EBITDA adjusted for exchange rate and acquisition effects of 

between EUR 580 million and EUR 620 million was predicted for 2015. Operating EBITDA actually 

amounted to EUR 621.0 million in the fiscal year. These figures include positive exchange rate and 

acquisition effects of EUR 26.6 million and EUR 8.7 million respectively. Thus, the EBITDA figure of 

EUR 585.7 million, which is comparable with the forecast, was within the defined target range. 
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However, the target range of EUR 590 to EUR 640 million set in the first quarter of 2015 was slightly 

missed. 

A target of between 9.0 and 9.5 percent was originally set for the cash flow driver margin adjusted for 

exchange rate and acquisition effects in 2015. The predicted value was raised to between 9.5 and 

10.0 percent in the financial report for the third quarter. Ultimately, a cash flow driver margin adjusted 

for non-recurring items and acquisition effects of 10.6 percent was achieved in the reporting year. When 

not adjusted for acquisition effects, however, the value was 10.3 percent, which means that even the 

increased target range was exceeded by far.

On April 16, 2015, GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft’s Annual General Meeting approved the proposal by 

the Supervisory Board and Executive Board to pay a dividend of EUR 0.70 per share for fiscal year 

2014, up from EUR 0.60 per share. This means that the distribution to the shareholders for 2015 was 

in line with the new target of 40 to 50 percent of group earnings.

GEA achieved FY 2015 targets
(EUR million)

Revenue Operating EBITDA Cash-Flow-Driver-Margin

∆   –4.2 %

4,516
4,325

4,599

∆   +1.9 %

591 586
621

∆   +5.1 %

10.1 %
10.6 %

FY 2015
reported

Organic
change

FY 2015
adjusted

Adjust-
ment

FY 2014 FY 2015
reported

Organic
change

FY 2015
adjusted

Adjust-
ment

GJ 2014 FY 2015FY 2014

457
482

Macroeconomic environment

As a global engineering company, GEA considers growth in gross domestic product (GDP) and hence 

the International Monetary Fund’s (IMF) associated assessments to be the key benchmark for its own 

development. The objective is, that GEA’s growth exceeds the global economy’s growth. 

According to its latest estimates for 2015, the IMF is looking at global economic growth of 3.1 percent 

(World Economic Outlook, January 2016) – at the start of 2015, the IMF had predicted GDP growth of 

3.5 percent.

Above all the slowing of economic activity in China and its reorientation away from investment and 

industrial goods toward services and consumer goods had a detrimental effect on prospects for global 

economic growth, according to the IMF. What is more, low energy and commodity prices, in 

particular the enduring slump in the price of oil, were hampering growth in the oil-exporting nations. 
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At the same time, demand for oil had not risen on the same scale as witnessed during previous low-

price phases, despite the lower costs. An additional risk, according to the experts at the IMF, was the 

gradual change in monetary policy in the U.S.A.

Specifically, the IMF has determined a preliminary growth rate of 1.9 percent for the industrialized 

nations in 2015, after 1.8 percent in the previous year. The eurozone economy continued to grow last year 

(from 0.9 percent in 2014 to 1.5 percent in 2015). Growth in the U.S.A. had increased to 2.5 percent in 

2015, up from 2.4 percent in 2014. By contrast, the experts at the IMF are expecting growth in Germany to 

contract slightly by 0.1 percentage points in 2015, down to 1.5 percent. 

According to the IMF, economic growth in the emerging markets fell from 4.6 percent in 2014 to 

4.0 percent in 2015 – the fifth year in a row in which growth had contracted. Even more significant was 

the slump in the Russian economy, where growth fell to –3.7 percent in 2015 after a positive figure of 

0.6 percent a year earlier. The IMF forecasts for China make just as gloomy reading. Here, economic 

growth fell by a further 0.4 percentage points in 2015, down to 6.9 percent. Economic growth is thought 

to have further slowed in Latin America, declining to –0.3 percent from 1.3 percent in 2014.

Significant changes

New group structure

Following intensive preparations, GEA’s new group structure – which was developed as part of its 

“Fit for 2020” initiative – was implemented on June 8, 2015. As part of this new structure, the 

development and manufacturing of products and the provision of process solutions have been 

bundled in two new business areas – Equipment and Solutions (see page 24 f.).

GEA’s plans to implement a new group structure are proceeding according to schedule. Key 

milestones along the path to implementing the target organization, some of which affect Germany, 

the country with the most GEA employees, have now been reached. Negotiations with the Group 

Works Council concerning the measures and the options for managing restructuring in a socially 

responsible way have been concluded. Outside Germany, implementation is also progressing 

according to plan. By the end of the fiscal year, the workforce had already been reduced by more than 

800 full-time equivalents as a result of the initiative.

For reporting purposes, the figures for the months prior to the switch-over and the figures for the 

previous year were aligned to the new reporting structure.

With the project “Fit for 2020” project, the target is to achieve annual cost savings of at least 

EUR 125 million as from 2017. Based on today’s business volume, the implementation measures will 

probably result in a net reduction in global personnel capacity of around 1,450 equivalents. 

Acquisitions

On January 2, 2015, GEA completed the purchase of shares in the Dutch group de Klokslag which was 

acquired on October 6, 2014 (see page 30 of the 2014 Annual Report). The de Klokslag group 

companies are among the leading manufacturers of large-scale equipment for semi-hard cheese 
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production and used to be part of the former Process Engineering segment which has now been 

integrated in the new Business Area Solutions. The Company, which has around 90 employees, 

generated revenue of more than EUR 30 million in fiscal year 2014. As a result of this acquisition, 

GEA is now a full solution provider in this growing segment of the dairy industry.

The takeover of the Italian company Comas was completed on June 19, 2015. Comas is one of the 

leading European manufacturers of machinery and equipment for sophisticated processes in the 

production of bakery goods. Based in Torrebelvicino, the company had a workforce of 155 employees 

and generated revenue of around EUR 50 million in accordance with local GAAP in the last fiscal 

year, mainly in Europe and Asia. As an established supplier in this industry, Comas will join the 

Business Area Solutions to form the Application Center Bakery. 

On the same date, June 19, 2015, GEA also completed the acquisition of CMT, a leading supplier of 

machinery and integrated process lines for pasta filata cheeses (fresh mozzarella and pizza cheese). 

The company, which is based in Peveragno, Italy, had around 70 employees and generated revenue of 

EUR 11 million in accordance with local GAAP in 2014, primarily in the European Union countries. 

GEA intends to integrate this business into its Application Center Dairy in the Business Area 

Solutions. 

On September 30, 2015, GEA acquired Hilge, a leading supplier of hygienic pumps that specializes in 

stainless steel pumps for the food and beverage industries. The takeover was completed in the third 

quarter of 2015 after approval had been obtained from relevant antitrust authorities. The acquisition 

has enabled GEA to expand its portfolio in the field of heavy-duty hygienic pumps and reinforce its 

position as a provider of system solutions for use in hygienic and aseptic process environments. 

Based in Bodenheim, Germany, the company has a workforce of around 150 employees and generated 

revenue of around EUR 35 million in fiscal year 2014. Hilge’s business was integrated into the 

Business Area Equipment of GEA.

Management

On September 23, 2015, the Supervisory Board of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft appointed two long-

standing GEA managers, the German Steffen Bersch and the Dane Niels Erik Olsen, to the company’s 

Executive Board with effect from January 1, 2016. Steffen Bersch will assume responsibility for the 

Business Area Equipment, while Niels Erik Olsen will be in charge of the Business Area Solutions.

The appointments follow in the wake of the decision by previous Board member, Markus Hüllmann, 

to acquire and operate a company that is not in competition with GEA. Mr. Hüllmann left the group 

with effect from December 31, 2015. 

Thus, GEA will be managed by a team of five Executive Board members as of January 1, 2016 (see page 63).
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Course of business

The following explanation of the group’s course of business relates initially to its continuing operations, 

i.e. to the group’s two operating Business Areas. The quarterly information contained in this 

management report is sourced from quarterly reports that were not reviewed by an auditor. All 

amounts have been rounded using standard rounding rules. Adding together individual amounts 

may therefore result in rounding differences in certain cases.

Order Intake 

The group’s order intake increased by 1.6 percent to EUR 4,590.1 million in full-year 2015 (previous 

year: EUR 4,519.6 million). Adjusted for exchange rate fluctuations and acquisition effects (4.2 and 

1.2 percent respectively), however, growth decreased by 3.8 percent. Chiefly responsible for this 

decline were orders in the range of EUR 15 million to EUR 30 million, whereas projects of above 

EUR 30 million in volume recorded a significant increase. In addition, the basic business orders 

(orders of less than EUR 1 million) saw very positive growth.

Order intake for the last 5 years 
(EUR million)

4,519.64,627.9 4,590.1
4,425.4

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

3,986.7

Growth in order intake in the last quarter of the reporting year is particularly worthy of note, where 

the posted figure of EUR 1,245.5 million even surpassed that of the previous record quarter (second 

quarter of 2013: EUR 1,220.0 million). Major orders from various industries helped produce the new 

record level.

Order intake
(EUR million) 2015 2014

Change
in %

Adjusted 
growth

in %

BA Equipment 2,293.0 2,295.1 –0.1 –5.0

BA Solutions 2,495.6 2,423.4 3.0 –2.5

Total 4,788.6 4,718.5 1.5 –3.7

Consolidation/others –198.5 –198.9 0.2 –

GEA 4,590.1 4,519.6 1.6 –3.8
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Order intake applications
(in %, average last 12 months)

Food /
Beverages

Others

72

28

14

22

21

15

15

13

Dairy Farming

Dairy Processing 

Food

Beverages

Pharma/Chemical

Other Industries

The largest major orders worth over EUR 30 million were won by the Business Area Solutions in the 

form of four dairy orders for customers in Africa, Western Europe and the Middle East, as well as a 

beverage project in Asia. All in all, their value amounted to approximately EUR 260 million. In the 

comparable prior-year period, four major orders were received for almost EUR 225 million.

GEA order intake EUR 4,590.1 million (previous year: EUR 4,519.6 million) 
by applications  (average last 12 months)

  Dairy Farming        Dairy Processing         Food        Beverages        Pharma/Chemical    
  Other Industries        GEA total

110 %

80 %

100 %

90 %

140 %

130 %

120 %

 Dec. 14 Mar. 15 Jun. 15 Sep. 15 Dec. 15
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Order backlog 

The order backlog rose slightly by EUR 16.1 million compared with December 31, 2014 (EUR 2,037.6 million,) 

to EUR 2,053.7 million.

Expressed in terms of the order intake for the fiscal year, the notional order backlog amounted to 5.4 

months (previous year: 5.4 months). In line with the different types of business performed, the order 

backlog ranges from around 3 months in the Business Area Equipment to around 8 months in the 

Business Area Solutions.

Order backlog
(EUR million) 12/31/2015 12/31/2014

Change
in %

Change
(absolute)

BA Equipment 501.9 532.6 –5.8 –30.8

BA Solutions 1,585.4 1,540.2 2.9 45.2

Total 2,087.3 2,072.8 0.7 14.5

Consolidation/others –33.5 –35.2 4.7 1.7

GEA 2,053.7 2,037.6 0.8 16.1

Revenue

In general, the same regional and sector-specific trends apply to revenue as to order intake, albeit 

with different time lags. However, revenue is less volatile than order intake. 

The revenue figure of EUR 4,599.3 million for fiscal year 2015 is another record for GEA, and 

constitutes a rise of 1.9% over the prior-year figure of EUR 4,515.7 million. Adjusted for exchange rate 

fluctuations and acquisition effects (plus 4.7 and 1.4 percent respectively), revenue was 4.2 percent 

under the figure for the previous year. The share of revenue enjoyed by service business rose from 

27.1 percent to 29.4 percent. Growth in this area amounted to 10.2 percent in the year under review, 

3.6 percent when adjusted for exchange rate and acquisition effects.

Revenue for the last 5 years
(EUR million)

4,515.7 4,599.3
4,320.0

4,142.3

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

3,828.3

The book-to-bill ratio, the ratio of order intake to revenue, was precisely 1.0 in 2015.
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Sales
(EUR million) 2015 2014

Change
in %

Adjusted 
growth

in %

BA Equipment 2,323.7 2,307.6 0.7 –4.2

BA Solutions 2,475.2 2,404.3 2.9 –3.9

Total 4,798.9 4,711.9 1.8 –4.1

Consolidation/others –199.6 –196.2 –1.7 –

GEA 4,599.3 4,515.7 1.9 –4.2

The adjusted revenue decline affected the food and beverages end market (–3.9 percent) and the 

pharma/chemical end market (–5.1 percent). In particular the dairy production, dairy processing and 

food customer industries, as well as the pharma and oil and gas industries recorded a significant fall 

in business volume. In contrast, the environment and chemical industries, along with the beverages 

customer industry recorded considerable, in some cases even double-digit adjusted growth rates.

At a regional level, the decline in the adjusted revenue is attributable to North and Central Europe 

and North America in particular, and to the Asia Pacific region. This was only partially offset by 

revenue growth in, chiefly, Germany, Austria, Switzerland (DACH) & Eastern Europe. As before, the 

regions with the highest revenue figures are Asia Pacific (25 percent), DACH & Eastern Europe 

(20 percent), and North America (18 percent).

Revenue applications
(in %, average last 12 months)

Food /
Beverages

Others

72

28

14

23

22

13

12

16

Dairy Farming

Dairy Processing 

Food

Beverages

Pharma/Chemical

Other Industries
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by region (%, average last 12 months)

Asia Pacific ............................................................

DACH & Eastern Europe  .......................................

Western Europe, Middle East & Africa ...................

North- and Central Europe ....................................  

Latin America ........................................................

North America ...................................................... 2014

2015

  24.8  (24.8)

  19.9 (19.6)

 16.4  (15.9)

 14.8  (16.5)

 6.0  (6.2)

 18.2  (16.9)

GEA revenue EUR 4,599.3 million (previous year: EUR 4,515.7 million) 
by applications  (average last 12 months)

  Dairy Farming        Dairy Processing         Food        Beverages        Pharma/Chemical    
  Other Industries        GEA total

110 %

90 %

100 %

120 %

 Dec. 14 Mar. 15 Jun. 15 Sep. 15 Dec. 15
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Business Area Equipment
In the 2015 fiscal year, the Business Area Equipment increased its revenue by 0.7 percent to 

EUR 2,323.7 million (previous year: EUR 2,307.6 million). However, on a constant exchange rate 

basis, revenue declined by 4.2 percent. This was due in particular to the oil and gas industry within 

the other industries and – to a lesser extent – to the dairy production customer industry and the 

pharma/chemical end markets. In contrast, energy and the other industries, along with dairy 

processing posted very positive adjusted growth rates.

The Asia Pacific, North and Central Europe, and North America regions posted below-average overall 

performance, while Western Europe, the Middle East & Africa generated gratifying growth. The most 

significant sales regions are North America, DACH & Eastern Europe, and Asia Pacific which all 

enjoyed a share of the revenue of over 20 percent.

The service business recorded growth of 8.7 percent (2.3 percent when adjusted) in the reporting 

period, with its share of total revenue amounting to 37.9 percent (previous year: 35.1 percent).

Business Area Equipment revenue EUR 2,323.7 million (previous year: EUR 2,307.6 million) 
by applications (average last 12 months, 3 most important applications, only exernal business)

  Dairy Farming          Food        Other Industries        GEA total

by region (%, average last 12 months)

Asia Pacific ............................................................

DACH & Eastern Europe  .......................................

Western Europe, Middle East & Africa ...................

North- and Central Europe ....................................  

Latin America ........................................................

North America ...................................................... 2014

2015

  20.4  (21.6)

  21.3  (22.2)

 16.6  (15.4)

 13.3  (14.1)

 6.3  (6.7)

 22.0  (20.1)

110 %

90 %

100 %

120 %

 Dec. 14 Mar. 15 Jun. 15 Sep. 15 Dec. 15
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Business Area Solutions
The Business Area Solutions generated revenue of EUR 2,475.2 million in the reporting year, up 2.9 percent 

on the previous year. Adjusted for exchange rate and acquisition effects, revenue decreased by 3.9 percent. 

This development was mainly attributable to the food and beverages end market (chiefly the dairy 

production and food customer industries), as well as to the pharma industry. In contrast, the chemical and 

environment industries, along with the beverages customer industry both recorded highly positive, double-

digit adjusted growth rates.

At a regional level, adjusted revenue growth saw a particularly significant decline in North and 

Central Europe. The North America region also saw a weaker performance, while highly gratifying 

adjusted revenue growth was recorded in DACH & Eastern Europe. The Asia Pacific region is the 

strongest in this business area, with an almost 30 percent share of the revenue.

The service business recorded very positive adjusted growth of 5.6 percent. Before exchange rate and 

acquisition effects, growth was even 12.4 percent. The business area’s share of total revenue increased 

from 18.7 percent to 20.4 percent.

Business Area Solutions revenue EUR 2,475.2 million (previous year: EUR 2.404,3 million) 
by applications (average last 12 months, 3 most important applications, only exernal business)

  Dairy Processing        Food        Beverages        GEA total

by region (%, average last 12 months)

Asia Pacific ............................................................

DACH & Eastern Europe  .......................................

Western Europe, Middle East & Africa ...................

North- and Central Europe ....................................  

Latin America ........................................................

North America ...................................................... 2014

2015

  28.8  (27.7)

  18.8  (17.4)

 16.4  (16.6)

 16.7  (19.8)

 5.5  (5.4)

 13.8  (13.2)

110 %

90 %

100 %

120 %
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Results of operations, financial position and net assets 

Results of operations

GEA remains committed to its policy of consciously selecting orders on the basis of their price quality 

and contract terms. This is reflected in the multi-stage approval process for major customer projects.

Whenever operative earnings are referred to in the following, this relates on the one hand to adjustments 

for purchase price allocation effects that were determined for all material past acquisitions, and on the 

other hand to the adjustment of expenses for restructuring and strategy projects. In addition, the figures 

for operating EBITDA have been adjusted for currency translation effects and acquisitions. The allocation in 

accordance with IFRS of service and trademark fees was adjusted in fiscal year 2014.

Operating EBIT for 2015 was adjusted for non-recurring items in the amount of EUR 197.4 million 

(previous year: EUR 50.7 million). EUR 192.6 million of these items was attributable to strategy 

projects of which EUR 125.6 million was restructuring expenses (see page 218 f.).

The gross margin adjusted for non-recurring items for the whole of 2015 amounted to 32.3 percent, a 

slight improvement on the previous year.

In fiscal year 2015, EBITDA fell by EUR 110.1 million compared with the prior-year period to 

EUR 429.8 million, largely due to high non-recurring costs. This corresponds to an EBITDA margin of 

9.3 percent (previous year: 12.0 percent). Adjusted for the above-mentioned non-recurring items of 

EUR 190.0 million, operating EBITDA amounted to EUR 621.0 million. The EUR 30.3 million increase 

compared with the previous year (EUR 590.7 million) was due in particular to the significant 

improvement in earnings of Food Processing & Packaging, gratifying business growth in the field of 

Compression and – last but not least – to the ongoing expansion in service business. In addition, the 

“Fit for 2020” program already bore fruit in terms of cost savings in the reporting year. As a result, 

the operating EBITDA margin improved by a further 40 basis points to 13.5 percent of revenue. 

Operating EBITDA in 2015 of EUR 621.0 million included positive currency translation and 

acquisition effects of EUR 26.6 million and EUR 8.7 million respectively. Thus, the EBITDA figure 

comparable with the announced forecast in the annual report amounts to EUR 585.7 million.

Both operating EBITDA and the operating EBITDA margin represent all-time highs for the new GEA.
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Revenue
Operating EBITDA margin

Operating EBITDA margin and revenue 
development for the last 5 years 
(EUR million)

4,515.7
4,320.0

4,142.3

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

3,828.3

4,599.3

12.3%

13.1%
13.5%

11.9%
12.3%

Business Area Equipment
In fiscal year 2015, the Business Area Equipment succeeded once again in surpassing the prior-year 

figure for operating EBITDA (EUR 351.1 million) by 8.7 percent to EUR 381.8 million. As a result, the 

operating EBITDA margin also improved by more than 120 basis points to 16.4 percent of revenue. 

Thus, the Business Area Equipment posted record highs in terms of both operating EBITDA and 

operating EBITDA margin. The chief reason for this positive earnings showing was the significant 

improvement in earnings in Food Processing & Packaging, in addition to the expansion in service 

business and gratifying business growth in the field of Compression. The operating EBITDA already 

included positive currency translation and acquisition effects of EUR 13.6 million and EUR 0.6 

million respectively.

Business Area Solutions
The Business Area Solutions posted a slight fall in operating EBITDA in the reporting year from 

EUR 265.8 million to EUR 255.3 million due to cost increases and delays affecting certain projects, 

and as a result of contracting oil and gas business in the field of Cooling Solutions. Accordingly, the 

operating EBITDA margin fell from 11.1 percent to 10.3 percent. The figure for operating EBITDA 

already included positive currency translation and acquisition effects of EUR 13.2 million and 

EUR 8.1 million respectively.

The following table shows operating EBITDA and the corresponding operating EBITDA margin per 

business area:

Operating EBITDA/operating EBITDA margin *

(EUR million) 2015 2014
Change

in %

BA Equipment 381.8 351.1 8.7

as % of revenue 16.4 15.2 –

BA Solutions 255.3 265.8 –4.0

as % of revenue 10.3 11.1 –

Total 637.1 617.0 3.3

as % of revenue 13.3 13.1 –

Consolidation/others –16.2 –26.3 38.4

GEA 621.0 590.7 5.1

as % of revenue 13.5 13.1 –

*) Before effects of purchase price allocations and before non-recurring items (see page 218 f.)
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The following table shows the reconciliation of EBITDA before purchase price allocation and non-

recurring items (operating EBITDA) through EBITDA and EBIT to EBIT before purchase price 

allocation and non-recurring items (operating EBIT):

Reconciliation of operating EBITDA to operating EBIT
(EUR million) 2015 2014

Change
in %

Operating EBITDA * 621.0 590.7 5.1

Realization of step-up amounts on inventories –1.2 – –

Non-recurring items –190.0 –50.7 < –100

EBITDA 429.8 539.9 –20.4

Depreciation of impairment losses on property, plant, and equipment, and investment property, 
and amortization of and impairment losses on intangible assets and goodwill, as reported in the 
statement of changes in non-current assets –119.4 –100.1 –19.3

Other impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses –1.0 – –

EBIT 309.4 439.9 –29.6

Depreciation and amortization on capitalization of purchase price allocation 26.9 23.1 16.8

Impairment losses on capitalization of purchase price allocation 3.9 –0.1 –

Realization of step-up amounts on inventories 1.2 – –

Non-recurring items 197.4 50.7 > 100

Operating EBIT * 538.8 513.5 4.9

*)  Before effects of purchase price allocations from revalued assets and liabilities and before non-recurring items (see page 218 f.)

The following table shows operating EBIT and the corresponding operating EBIT margin per 

business area:

Operating EBIT/operating EBIT margin *

(EUR million) 2015 2014
Change

in %

BA Equipment 326.8 298.3 9.6

as % of revenue 14.1 12.9 –

BA Solutions 234.8 247.8 –5.2

as % of revenue 9.5 10.3 –

Total 561.7 546.1 2.8

as % of revenue 11.7 11.6 –

Consolidation/others –22.8 –32.6 30.0

GEA 538.8 513.5 4.9

as % of revenue 11.7 11.4 –

*)  Before effects of purchase price allocations and before non-recurring item (see page 218 f.)

As a result of the high non-recurring expenses, EBIT amounted to EUR 309.4 million in the past fiscal year, 

compared with EUR 439.9 million in the previous year. The EBIT margin thus fell from 9.7 percent to 

6.7 percent. Operating EBIT, adjusted for purchase price allocation effects of EUR 32.0 million (previous 

year: EUR 22.9 million) and for non-recurring items, rose to EUR 538.8 million (previous year: 

EUR 513.5 million). The operating EBIT margin improved from 11.4 percent to 11.7 percent of revenue.

Combined Group Management Report / Report on Economic Position



48 GEA Annual Report 2015

Key figures: Results of operations
(EUR million) 2015 2014

Change
in %

Revenue 4,599.3 4,515.7 1.9

Operating EBITDA * 621.0 590.7 5.1

EBITDA 429.8 539.9 –20.4

Operating EBIT * 538.8 513.5 4.9

EBIT 309.4 439.9 –29.6

Interest 39.4 66.0 –40.3

EBT 270.0 373.8 –27.8

Income taxes 5.8 87.8 –93.4

Profit after tax from continuing operations 264.2 286.0 –7.6

Profit after tax from discontinued operations 97.6 34.6 > 100

Profit for the period 361.9 320.6 12.9

*)  Before effects of purchase price allocations and before non-recurring items (see page 218 f.)

Net interest income for the whole year amounted to EUR –39.4 million, well below the prior-year 

figure of EUR –66.0 million. The EUR 26.6 million improvement is attributable on the one hand to 

lower interest expenses from interest accrued on pension provisions, and, on the other, to lower bank 

interest payments due to the repayment of financial liabilities using proceeds from the sale of the 

former GEA Heat Exchangers segment.

EBT in full-year 2015 amounted to EUR 270.0 million, EUR 103.8 million lower than the previous 

year’s figure (EUR 373.8 million) and largely due to high non-recurring costs. The EBT margin fell 

accordingly from 8.3 percent in the previous year to 5.9 percent.

Profit from discontinued operations amounted to EUR 97.6 million in fiscal year 2015 (previous 

year: EUR 34.6 million). This result includes the settlement of legal disputes in connection with the 

former business activities of mg technologies ag. In the previous year, profit from discontinued operations 

was almost exclusively attributable to the former GEA Heat Exchangers segment (see page 160). 

The income tax expense of EUR 5.8 million in fiscal year 2015 (previous year: EUR 87.8 million) 

comprised current tax expenses of EUR 61.4 million (previous year: EUR 80.7 million) and income 

from deferred taxes of EUR 55.7 million (previous year: EUR 7.1 million deferred tax expense). As a 

result, notably, of special factors relating to discontinued operations and expected higher tax income 

in the future, tax rate amounted to just 2.1 percent in the reporting year (previous year: 23.5 percent).

In the fiscal year, the group result amounted to EUR 361.9 million (previous year: EUR 320.6 million), 

almost all of which was attributable to GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft shareholders (previous 

year: EUR 320.5 million). Taking into account the unchanged average number of shares compared 

with the previous year (192,495,476,) this corresponds to earnings per share of EUR 1.88 (previous 

year: EUR 1.66.)

In addition to holding company costs in the narrower sense, the results of operations of GEA Group 

Aktiengesellschaft are primarily driven by net investment income and net interest income. Further 

details are presented in the section entitled “Net assets, financial position, and results of operations of 

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft” (see page 56 ff.).

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board are proposing to increase the dividend from EUR 0.70 to 

EUR 0.80 per share. This is in line with the goal to distribute between 40 and 50 percent of consolidated 

profit to our shareholders, as announced at our Capital Markets Day on October 13, 2014. 
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Financial position

GEA’s financial position is still very good, largely due to the cash inflows of the previous year resulting 

from the sale of the GEA Heat Exchangers segment. However, liquidity management and centralized 

financial management remain of key significance due, among other factors, to the volatile markets. 

In the first quarter of 2015, the European Investment Bank (EIB) loan was early repaid in the amount of 

EUR 100.0 million. With the aim of securing advantageous conditions for the Company, the syndicated 

credit line (Club Deal) was extended to 2020 in August 2015. This loan features two further 12-month 

prolongation options until max. 2022. 

GEA’s cash credit lines and their utilization were as follows at the reporting date:

GEA cash credit lines incl. discontinued operations
(EUR million) Maturity

12/31/2015
approved

12/31/2015
utilized

GEA Bond April 2016 275 275

European Investment Bank July 2017 50 50

Borrower‘s note loan September 2017 90 90

Syndicated credit line (“Club Deal”) August 2020 650 –

Various (bilateral) credit lines including accrued interests
Maximum of 1 year or  
“until further notice“ 135 14

Total 1,199 429

The group’s financial management encompasses liquidity management, group financing, and the 

management of interest rate and currency translation risks. As the group management company, GEA 

Group Aktiengesellschaft is responsible for GEA’s central financial management, which aims to reduce 

financing costs as far as possible, to optimize interest rates for financial investments, to minimize 

counterparty credit risk, to leverage economies of scale, to hedge interest rate and exchange rate risk 

exposures as effectively as possible, and to ensure that loan covenants are complied with. The goal of 

GEA’s financing strategy is not only to be able to meet its payment obligations whenever they fall 

due, but also to ensure that sufficient cash reserves are always available in the form of credit lines, in 

addition to maintaining a strategic cash position. The centralized liquidity portfolio is managed 

mainly for capital preservation and risk reduction by diversifying the cash investments.

Cash flow from operating activities is the most important source of liquidity. Intragroup cash pooling 

aims to limit external cash investments and borrowings to as low a level as possible. To achieve this, 

GEA has established cash pooling groups in 13 countries that automatically balance the accounts of 

the participating group companies every day by crediting or debiting a target account at GEA Group 

Aktiengesellschaft. Any additional liquidity requirements are generally borrowed by group 

management, which also invests surplus liquidity. In a number of cases, however, liquidity peaks in 

individual countries cannot be reduced on a cross-border basis due to legal or tax-related reasons. 

The Company further increased its net liquidity (including discontinued operations) by EUR 78.3 million 

to EUR 982.0 million as of December 31, 2015. 
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Overview of net liquidity incl. discontinued operations
(EUR million) 12/31/2015 12/31/2014

Cash and cash equivalents 1,174.2 1,195.9

Fixed deposits with a remaining period ≤ 1 year 200.0 200.0

Securities 37.0 37.0

Liabilities to banks 146.5 246.9

Bonds 282.7 282.2

Net liquidity (+)/Net debt (-) 982.0 903.7

Gearing (%) –34.5 –35.8

Cash and cash equivalents fell slightly to EUR 1,174.2 million as of December 31, 2015, compared with 

EUR 1,195.9 million as of the end of the previous year. Liabilities to banks (EUR 55.9 million), from 

the bond issue (EUR 282.7 million, including accrued interest), and the borrower’s note loan 

(EUR 90.6 million, including accrued interest) amounted to a total of EUR 429.1 million at the 

reporting date (previous year: EUR 529.1 million).

Detailed information on the maturity, currency, and interest rate structure of debt financing can be 

found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (see pages 152 ff. and 194 ff.).

Guarantee lines – which are mainly for contract performance, advance payments, and warranties – of 

EUR 1,463.4 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 1,732.3 million) were available to GEA as of the reporting 

date, of which EUR 481.4 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 462.1 million) had been utilized.

In addition to the assets recognized in the consolidated balance sheet, GEA also uses non owned 

assets. These are mainly assets leased or rented under operating leases. GEA uses factoring programs 

as off-balance-sheet financing instruments. The obligations resulting from rental and leasing obligations 

are explained in section 9.2 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements (see page 214).

Change in Working Capital (continued operations)
(EUR million)

Q3 2015 632- =490511987 645

Q4 2015Trade receivables

Inventories

Trade payables

Advance payments received

Working Capital

547- =5106101,118 549

Q4 2014 424- =444640946 562

Working capital from continuing operations amounted to EUR 546.8 million as of December 31, 2015, 

up 28.8 percent as against the previous year (EUR 424.4 million). This increase is primarily due to 

higher trade receivables. This contrasted with developments in inventories and, notably, in advance 

payments. The ratio of average working capital to revenue increased from 12.1 percent to 13.1 percent. 
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The key factors responsible for the change in net liquidity are shown in the following chart:

Change in net liquidity
(EUR million)

Net liquidity (12/31/2014) *

Net liquidity (12/31/2015) *

Subtotal

429.8

Capex

Change in Working Capital
EBITDA

Discontinued operations

Others
Exchange rate effects

Interest /taxes

Net effects from acquisitions 

Dividend

*)  Including fixed deposits with a remaining period ≤ 1 year (EUR 200 million)

903.7

1,116.0

982.0

–90.7
–113.1

–101.3
35.6

52.0

120.4
–119.7

–134.7

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft’s dividend payout in fiscal year 2015 was once again the highest in the 

Company’s history, at EUR 134.7 million (previous year: EUR 115.5 million). With the number of 

shares unchanged, the more than 16 percent rise derives from the increase in the dividend per share 

from EUR 0.60 to EUR 0.70.

1)  Dividend payments respectively for the preceding fiscal year
2) On basis of dividend proposal

0.60

0.70

0.550.55

0.40

0.80

Dividend proposal
Dividend
Dividend per Share, EUR

Dividend payments 1 for the last 5 years 
and dividend proposal
(EUR million)

115.5

134.7

154.0

105.9
101.1

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2

73.3
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The consolidated cash flow statement can be summarized as follows: 

Overview of cash flow statement
(EUR million) 2015 2014

Change
absolute

Cash flow from operating activities 324.7 401.6 –76.9

Cash flow from investing activities –196.1 –349.4 153.3

Free cash flow 128.6 52.2 76.4

Cash flow from financing activities –270.3 –618.9 348.6

Cash flow from disposal of GEA Heat Exchangers – 980.1 –980.1

Net cash flow from disposal of GEA Heat Exchangers –3.8 –10.9 7.1

Net cash flow other discontinued operations 124.2 –13.1 137.4

Change in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents –21.7 400.1 –421.8

Cash flow from operating activities attributable to continuing operations amounted to EUR 324.7 million 

in the year under review, down EUR 76.9 million on the previous year (EUR 401.6 million). The 

decrease in EBITDA (EUR –110.1 million) due to higher non-recurring expenses, and higher liquidity 

outflows due to the rise in working capital (EUR –54.1 million) could not be fully compensated by 

changes in other operating assets and liabilities (plus EUR 68.9 million) and by a further rise in 

provisions (plus EUR 26.9 million).

Cash flow from investing activities attributable to continuing operations amounted to EUR –196.1 million 

in the reporting period (previous year: EUR –349.4 million). These figures include outflows for 

acquisitions in the reporting year of EUR 119.7 million. In the previous year, this indicator was largely 

attributable to cash investments and the purchase of securities in the total amount of EUR 237.0 million 

in the reporting period.

Cash flow from financing activities attributable to continued operations (EUR –270.3 million) reflects the 

dividend payout (EUR 134.7 million) and, in particular, the EUR 100.0 million early repayment of the loan 

from the European Investment Bank (EIB) in the first quarter of the year. In the previous year, this was 

countered by the repayment of loans from Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau, the repayment of a 

borrower’s note loan, and the partial repurchase of bonds, amounting to EUR 406.8 million in total.

Cash flow from discontinued operations amounted to EUR 120.4 million in the reporting year. This 

figure includes inflows from the settlement of legal disputes in connection with the former business 

activities of mg technologies ag. In the previous year, this indicator was characterized by inflows 

from the sale of the GEA Heat Exchangers segment of EUR 1,059.3 million less divested cash and cash 

equivalents (EUR 79.2 million).

Cash flow drivers

GEA’s overriding goal is to sustainably increase its enterprise value by growing profitably. The cash 

flow driver margin is a key group performance indicator that is used to create the necessary financial 

scope for this and to focus the group even more closely on cash flow generation. It is also 

incorporated into the bonus system.

The cash flow driver margin is a simplified cash flow indicator (EBITDA minus capital expenditures 

for property, plant, and equipment, and intangible assets (capex) and the change in average working 

capital) and is expressed as a ratio to revenue.
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Operating Cash flow driver/operating cash flow driver margin
(EUR million) 12/31/2015 12/31/2014

Change
in %

Operating EBITDA (last 12 months) 621.0 590.7 5.1

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment (last 12 months) –90.7 –93.8 –3.3

Change in Working Capital (average of the last 12 months) –54.5 –40.8 33.3

Operating Cash flow driver
(Operating EBITDA - Capex -/+Change in Working Capital) 475.8 456.0 4.3

as % of revenue (last 12 months) 10.3 10.1 –

The cash flow driver adjusted for non-recurring items amounted to EUR 475.8 million in the year 

under review, compared with EUR 456.0 million in the previous year. The corresponding operating 

cash flow driver margin was 10.3 percent, after 10.1 percent in the previous year. The main reason for 

the improvement in this indicator was the EUR 30.3  million increase in operating EBITDA compared 

with the previous year, this contrasting with the increased burden from the rise in working capital. 

Net assets

Condensed balance sheet
(EUR million) 12/31/2015

as % of
total assets 12/31/2014

as % of
total assets

Change
in %

Assets

Non-current assets 2,873.9 46.9 2,714.8 46.5 5.9

thereof goodwill 1,431.5 23.4 1,330.0 22.8 7.6

thereof deferred taxes 491.1 8.0 469.3 8.0 4.6

Current assets 3,247.3 53.1 3,117.2 53.5 4.2

thereof cash and cash equivalents 1,174.2 19.2 1,195.9 20.5 –1.8

thereof assets held for sale 8.1 0.1 5.6 0.1 45.4

Total assets 6,121.2 100.0 5,832.0 100.0 5.0

Equity and liabilities

Equity 2,844.2 46.5 2,527.2 43.3 12.5

Non-current liabilities 1,272.6 20.8 1,558.4 26.7 –18.3

thereof financial liabilities 177.0 2.9 456.1 7.8 –61.2

thereof deferred taxes 111.2 1.8 118.6 2.0 –6.3

Current liabilities 2,004.4 32.7 1,746.4 29.9 14.8

thereof financial liabilities 300.7 4.9 133.5 2.3 > 100

Total equity and liabilities 6,121.2 100.0 5,832.0 100.0 5.0

Total assets as of December 31, 2015, increased by EUR 289.2 million or 5.0 percent as against 

December 31, 2014, to EUR 6,121.2 million. This increase is primarily due to higher trade receivables and 

to a rise in intangible assets caused by acquisitions. Deferred tax assets also increased, whereas cash and 

cash equivalents fell slightly. The ratio of non-current to current assets shifted in favor of non-current 

assets, which accounted for 46.9 percent of total assets as of December 31, 2015 (previous 

year: 46.5 percent).

Equity increased significantly, up EUR 317.0 million to EUR 2,844.2 million. The improvement in this 

balance sheet item was due to the consolidated profit of EUR 361.9 million, as well as to currency 

translation effects (EUR 87.2 million). This was offset by the dividend payment of EUR 134.7 million. The 

equity ratio improved significantly by 3.2 percentage points compared with that of December 31, 2014, to 

46.5 percent.

Non-current liabilities were significantly reduced to EUR 1,272.6 million, in particular as a result of 

the reclassification of the bond in the amount of EUR 274.2 million for maturity reasons. By contrast, 

at EUR 2,004.4 million as of the reporting date, current liabilities were up EUR 258.0 million on the 
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figure for December 31, 2014 (EUR 1,746.4 million). On the one hand, this balance sheet item reflects 

the above-mentioned reclassification of the bond for maturity reasons, and restructuring provisions 

posted in the second quarter of 2015 in particular; on the other, it reflects the early repayment of the 

EUR 100.0 million loan from the European Investment Bank (EIB).

*)  Amounts adjusted due to first time classification of a business area as discontinued operation (see page 149 f.) and due to change in 
 accounting policy for employee benefits (see page 181 f.)

Non-current assets

Thereof assets 
held for sale

Current assets

Current liabilities

Equity

Thereof debts 
held for sale

Non-current 
liabilities

Comparison of net assets (2015 vs. 2014) *

(EUR million)

Assets
Equity and 
liabilities

12/31/2015

8 6

3,247 3,117

1,746

134

2,004

301

2,874 2,715 2,5272,844

1,5581,273

6,121 6,1215,832 5,832

12/31/201512/31/2014 12/31/2014

Performance of discontinued operations

Other companies
Once again, other companies classified as discontinued operations did not have a material impact 

overall on consolidated profit in fiscal year 2015.

In the context of the former mining activities of mg technologies ag, we had to increase our provisions 

for proactive risk prevention measures at shaft entrances in response to recalibration during ongoing 

risk analysis and as a result of changes in the discount rate used to measure non-current provisions. In 

contrast, the risks relating to the sale of Lentjes decreased further, meaning that some of the provisions 

recognized for this could be reversed.

Employees

The Executive Board of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft would like to thank all of the group’s employees 

for their excellent work and active commitment in fiscal 2015. Our particular thanks go to the employee 

representatives in Germany and abroad for their responsible and constructive contributions. 
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There were 17,533 employees as of December 31, 2015. This represents a total decrease of 710 employees 

compared with December 31, 2014 (18,243 employees). Changes in the basis of consolidation 

increased the number of employees by 495. Adjusted for these effects, total job-cuts amounted to 

1,205 full-time equivalents, 830 of which are attributable to the “Fit For 2020” program.

The reduction in the workforce affected all regions, with Asia Pacific, DACH & Eastern Europe, and 

North America bearing the brunt of the cuts. That said, the regional spread of employees changed 

only marginally. 

Employees * by region 12/31/2015 12/31/2014

DACH & Eastern Europe 6,667 38.0% 6,773 37.1%

North and Central Europe 3,118 17.8% 3,216 17.6%

Asia Pacific 2,901 16.5% 3,188 17.5%

Western Europe, Middle East & Africa 2,664 15.2% 2,589 14.2%

North America 1,829 10.4% 2,090 11.5%

Latin America 355 2.0% 387 2.1%

Total 17,533 100.0% 18,243 100.0%

*)  Full-time equivalents (FTE) excluding vocational trainees and inactive employment contracts

Talent management and development 
GEA runs talent development programs for target groups at different levels of seniority. The two 

programs – “First Professional Program” and “Professionals on Stage” – are designed to identify and 

foster the development of employees with management potential. Together with five other prominent 

international companies, GEA also participates in the London Business School’s Global Business 

Consortium in which top managers can hone their strategic business skills.

GEA sets its store by excellence in the training of young talent. Among other things, it offers an 

international trainee program for university graduates. Absolventa GmbH has recognized this program 

as a fair, career-enhancing initiative. Trainees are prepared at a group-wide level for advanced duties in 

both commercial and technical areas over a period of 18 months in GEA companies in Germany and 

abroad. Twin-track courses of study in cooperation with universities and technical colleges are available 

for school-leavers. Lasting six semesters, these courses lead to bachelor degrees in various specialist 

areas. GEA also offers classical vocational training in the engineering disciplines.

It is GEA’s aim to find replacements for at least 80 percent of senior management vacancies below 

Executive Board level from within the Company in the event of position changes or fluctuation. To 

this end, the Company has implemented a systematic process for identifying and training suitable 

candidates. This would also enable vacant positions to be filled on an ad-hoc basis if necessary.

Learning and training
Since the end of 2015, the GEA Learning Center Portal – a centralized learning and training platform 

– has been available to employees around the world. The current offering includes e-learning 

programs on both specialized and business topics, as well as management training courses. Product 

and application-based training courses will be provided by GEA’s two Business Areas.

Performance assessments are carried out at regular intervals for managers worldwide. The results are 

used as a basis for discussing individual development measures for the managers.
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Net Assets, Financial Position, and Results of Operations  
of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft  

In addition to the reporting by the group, the following section describes the performance of GEA 

Group Aktiengesellschaft (group management). The annual financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code) and the Aktiengesetz 

(AktG – German Stock Corporation Act). They are presented here in condensed form.

Net assets of GEA Group AG (HGB)
(EUR million) 12/31/2015

as %
of total assets 12/31/2014

as %
of total assets

Assets

Intangible fixed assets 3.8 0.1 4.0 0.1

Tangible fixed assets 1.6 – 2.0 –

Long-term financial assets 2,600.5 55.8 2,842.7 59.6

Fixed assets 2,605.9 55.9 2,848.7 59.7

Receivables and other assets 910.4 19.6 714.7 15.0

Thereof Receivables from affiliated companies 882.6 19.0 677.9 14.2

Thereof Other assets 27.8 0.6 36.8 0.8

Securities 37.0 0.8 37.0 0.8

Cash 1,100.5 23.6 1,167.3 24.4

Current assets 2,047.9 44.0 1,919.0 40.2

Prepaid expenses 3.1 0.1 3.2 0.1

Total 4,656.9 100.0 4,770.9 100.0

Equity and liabilities

Subscribed capital 520.4 11.2 520.4 10.9

Capital reserves 250.8 5.4 250.8 5.3

Revenue reserves 731.7 15.7 741.7 15.5

Net retained profits 154.4 3.3 136.5 2.9

Equity 1,657.3 35.6 1,649.4 34.6

Provisions 295.9 6.4 288.0 6.0

Bonds 274.7 5.9 274.7 5.8

Liabilities to banks 140.0 3.0 240.0 5.0

Liabilities to affiliated companies 2,272.3 48.8 2,301.2 48.2

Other liabilities 16.0 0.3 15.0 0.3

Liabilities 2,703.0 58.0 2,830.9 59.3

Deferred income 0.7 – 2.6 0.1

Total 4,656.9 100.0 4,770.9 100.0

The contraction in total assets of EUR 114.0 million compared with the previous year is chiefly the 

result of a reduction in long-term loans to affiliated companies in the amount of EUR 242.2 million 

and a EUR 66.8 million fall in cash funds largely as a result of the loan repayment. By contrast, 

receivables from affiliated companies raise by EUR 204.7 million to EUR 882.6 million as a result of 

group financing. 

Net income for the fiscal year of EUR 142.6 million less the dividend of EUR 134.7 million paid out in 

fiscal year 2015 led to the EUR 7.9 million increase in equity to EUR 1,657.3 million. The equity ratio 

increased by 1.0 percentage points to 35.6 percent. Early repayment of the EUR 100.0 million loan 

from the European Investment Bank (EIB) is reflected in liabilities to banks. 

There were only minor changes overall to the rest of the balance sheet items compared with the 

previous year.  
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Income statement of GEA Group AG (HGB)
(EUR million) 12/31/2015 in % 12/31/2014 in %

Other operating income 435.1 274.0 140.6 91.4

Personnel expenses –38.7 –24.4 –32.6 –21.2

Amortization amd writedowns of intangible fixed assets and
depreciation and writedowns of tangible fixed assets –0.8 –0.5 –1.0 –0.7

Other operating expenses –308.8 –194.5 –231.5 –150.5

Investment income 66.2 41.7 278.0 180.8

Net interest income 5.8 3.7 0.3 0.2

Result from ordinary activities 158.8 100.0 153.8 100.0

Taxes on income –16.2 –10.2 –13.1 –8.5

Net income for the fiscal year 142.6 89.8 140.7 91.5

Retained profits brought forward 1.8 1.1 0.8 0.5

Withdrawals from other revenue reserves 10.0 6.3 – –

Appropriation to other revenue reserves – – –5.0 –3.3

Net retained profits 154.4 97.2 136.5 88.8

Currency translation gains and losses from own hedges and hedges for affiliated companies are reported 

gross within other operating income and expenses, as in the previous year. Gains of EUR 229.8 million 

(previous year: EUR 100.1 million) and losses of EUR 223.7 million (previous year: EUR 99.4 million) 

resulted in net exchange rate gains of EUR 6.1 million (previous year: EUR 0.7 million).

In addition to currency translation gains, other operating income includes income from the settlement of 

legal disputes in connection with the former business activities of mg technologies ag, income from 

recharging the intercompany service fee and the trademark fee to subsidiaries, from ancillary operations, 

and from the reversal of provisions. In addition to currency translation losses, other operating expenses 

mainly comprise the outlays for expert opinions and consulting, as well as third-party services. The 

outlay for expert opinions and consulting of EUR 40.7 million (previous year: EUR 38.7 million) is 

mainly attributable to consulting fees in the context of the restructuring program.

Investment income comprises income and expenses from profit and loss transfer agreements. 

Income from profit transfer agreements mainly contains the profits transferred by GEA Mechanical 

Equipment GmbH, GEA Refrigeration Germany GmbH, and GEA TDS GmbH. Expenses for loss 

absorption mainly comprise assumed losses from GEA Farm Technologies GmbH, GEA Diessel 

GmbH, GEA IT Services GmbH, ZiAG Plant Engineering GmbH, and mg Altersversorgung GmbH. The 

income from profit transfers and the outlay for loss absorption were characterized by non-recurring 

expenses for restructuring measures.

Net interest income increased by EUR 5.5 million to EUR 5.8 million (previous year: EUR 0.3 million). 

This was mainly the result of lower interest expenses due to the repayment of liabilities to banks and 

the partial repurchase of a bond in December 2014 in the amount of EUR 125.3 million.
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Cash-Flow of GEA Group AG (HGB)
(EUR million) 2015 2014

Cash flow from operating activities 168.0 1,022.2

Cash flow from investing activities –0.1 165.9

Cash flow from financing activities –234.7 –552.7

Liquid funds 1,100.5 1,167.3

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft’s business development is primarily subject to the same risks and 

opportunities as the GEA Group. These are presented in the report on risks and opportunities. 

Additionally, the relationships with subsidiaries may result in negative effects due to statutory and 

contractual contingent liabilities (in particular finance).

The most important key performance indicator for GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft is (HGB) net 

income for the fiscal year, which, together with the available provisions, allows it to pay out a 

dividend of between 40 and 50 percent of the (IFRS) consolidated profit. The Company is expecting 

net income for fiscal year 2016 to increase slightly compared with 2015 thanks to savings from the 

restructuring program. 

Due to its overlap with the group as a whole, further details on the future business development of 

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft can be found in the chapter entitled “Business outlook” (see page 100 f.).

Proposal on the appropriation of profits

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft’s annual financial statements in accordance with the HGB report net 

income for the fiscal year of EUR 142.6 million. In fiscal year 2015, an amount of EUR 10.0 million 

was withdrawn from the other revenue reserves. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board will 

propose to the Annual General Meeting to pay a dividend of EUR 0.80 per share, up from EUR 0.70 in 

the prior-year period, to shareholders from the net retained profits of EUR 154.4 million for a total of 

192,495,476 shares (previous year: 192,495,476 shares), and to carry forward the remaining net 

retained profits of EUR 0.5 million to new account. 

The dividend will be paid from the contribution account for tax purposes (section 27 of the Körper-

schaftsteuergesetz (KStG – German Corporate Income Tax Act)) and therefore without deduction of 

investment income tax and the solidarity surcharge. In the case of shareholders in Germany, the 

dividend is not subject to current taxation in the year of payment. The general opinion of the German 

tax authorities (see also the Federal Ministry of Finance (BMF) circular dated December 22, 2009, 

paragraph 92) is that the payment of dividends from the contribution account for tax purposes 

constitutes a repayment of shareholder contributions, which results in a retrospective reduction in 

the cost of the shares. This can lead to the imposition of higher capital gains taxes if the shares are 

sold at a later date.

Explanatory information in accordance with sections 289(4) and (5),  
and 315(2) No. 5 and 315(4) of the HGB

Composition of the subscribed capital and restrictions on rights
As of December 31, 2015, the subscribed capital of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft was EUR 520,375,765.57 

and was composed of 192,495,476 no-par value bearer shares. All the shares are ordinary shares. The rights 

and obligations arising from these shares are defined in the AktG. The Executive Board is not aware of any 

restrictions affecting the voting rights. Participation in the GEA Performance Share Plan requires a personal 

investment by participants in GEA shares, which are subject to a holding period of three years. Participants 

who infringe the holding period lose their right to participate in the plan. 
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Interests in the share capital exceeding 10 percent of the voting rights
There were no interests in the Company exceeding 10 percent of the voting rights as of December 31, 2015.

Provisions governing the appointment and dismissal of members of the Executive Board and 
amendments to the Articles of Association
The members of the Executive Board are appointed and dismissed in accordance with sections 84 and 

85 of the AktG in conjunction with section 31 of the Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG – German 

Codetermination Act).

Under Article 20(1) of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft’s Articles of Association, amendments to the 

Articles of Association may – where legally permissible – be adopted by a simple majority of the 

share capital represented at the vote. Under Article 21 of the Articles of Association, the Supervisory 

Board may resolve amendments and additions to the Articles of Association that only affect their 

wording. In other respects, section 179 of the AktG applies to amendments to the Articles of 

Association.

Powers of the Executive Board to issue and repurchase shares
In accordance with Article 4(3) of the Articles of Association, the Executive Board is authorized, with 

the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital by up to EUR 77 million by 

issuing new no-par value shares against cash contributions on one or more occasions until April 23, 

2017 (Authorized Capital I) and, in accordance with Article 5(4) of the Articles of Association, to 

define a starting date for profit rights in this case that differs from the date stipulated by law. The 

Executive Board is also entitled, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude fractions 

from shareholders’ preemptive rights. The new shares may also be underwritten by banks with the 

obligation of offering them to the shareholders for subscription (indirect subscription right).

In accordance with Article 4(4) of the Articles of Association, the Executive Board is authorized, with 

the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital, wholly or in part, by up to 

EUR 130 million by issuing new no-par value shares against cash and/or non-cash contributions on 

one or more occasions until April 15, 2020 (Authorized Capital II) and, in accordance with Article 5(4) 

of the Articles of Association, to define a starting date for profit rights in this case that differs from 

the date stipulated by law. The statutory subscription right may also be granted by the new shares 

being underwritten by one or more banks with the obligation of offering them to the shareholders for 

subscription (indirect subscription right). Furthermore, the Executive Board is authorized, with the 

approval of the Supervisory Board, to disapply shareholders’ preemptive rights in the case of capital 

increases against noncash contributions for the purpose of business combinations or the acquisition 

of companies, parts of companies, or equity interests in companies or other assets. The Executive 

Board is further authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to disapply shareholders’ 

preemptive rights (i) in order to implement a so-called scrip dividend where the shareholders of GEA 

Group Aktiengesellschaft are given the option of contributing their dividend entitlement either 

wholly or partially to the Company as a noncash contribution in return for the granting of new 

shares, (ii) insofar as it is necessary to eliminate fractional amounts, and (iii) in order to grant the 

creditors of convertible or option bonds with option or conversion privileges or obligations issued by 

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft or a subordinate group company of the Company a right to subscribe 

to new shares to the extent to which they would be entitled after exercising the option or conversion 

rights or after fulfilling conversion obligations. The total proportionate amount of GEA Group 
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Aktiengesellschaft’s share capital allocable to shares issued against cash and/or noncash contributions 

under disapplication of shareholders’ preemptive rights must not exceed 10 percent of the Company’s 

share capital at the time when the resolution was adopted by the Annual General Meeting. Finally, the 

Executive Board is authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to stipulate the further details 

of the capital increases from Authorized Capital II and the terms and conditions of the share issue.

In accordance with Article 4(5) of the Articles of Association, the Executive Board is authorized, with 

the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital by up to EUR 52 million by 

issuing new no-par value shares against cash contributions on one or more occasions until April 15, 

2020 (Authorized Capital III) and, in accordance with Article 5(4) of the Articles of Association, to 

define a starting date for profit rights in this case that differs from the date stipulated by law. The 

statutory subscription right may also be granted by the new shares being underwritten by one or 

more banks with the obligation of offering them to the shareholders for subscription (indirect 

subscription right). The Executive Board is authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to 

exclude shareholders’ subscription rights if the issue price of the new shares is not significantly lower 

than the stock exchange price for company shares of the same kind at the time of setting the issue 

price. In line with the modalities of this disapplication of preemptive rights, the shares issued in 

accordance with section 203(1) and section 186(3) no. 4 of the AktG (German Stock Corporation Act) 

may not exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company either at the time at which this authorization 

takes effect or at the time at which it is exercised (upper limit). The upper limit of 10% shall be 

reduced by the proportionate amount of the share capital allocable to shares (i) issued during the 

term of the Authorized Capital III under disapplication of preemptive rights in accordance with 

section 71(1) no. 8 sentence 5, and Section 186(3) sentence 4 of the AktG (German Stock Corporation 

Act) or (ii) issued to service convertible or option bonds with option or conversion privileges or 

obligations issued by GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft or a subordinate group company of the 

Company, as long as the convertible or option bonds have been issued during the term of the 

Authorized Capital III under disapplication of preemptive rights in accordance with section 186(3) 

sentence of the 4 AktG. The Executive Board is further authorized, with the approval of the 

Supervisory Board, to disapply shareholders’ preemptive rights (i) insofar as it is necessary to 

eliminate fractional amounts, and (ii) in order to grant the creditors of convertible or option bonds 

with option or conversion privileges or obligations issued by GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft or a 

subordinate group company of the Company a right to subscribe to new shares to the extent to which 

they would be entitled after exercising the option or conversion rights or after fulfilling conversion 

obligations. Finally, the Executive Board is authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to 

stipulate the further details of the capital increases from Authorized Capital III and the terms and 

conditions of the share issue.

Under a resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting on April 16, 2015, the share capital was 

contingently increased by up to EUR 51,903,633.82, comprising up to 19,200,000 bearer shares 

(Article 4(6) of the Articles of Association, Contingent Capital 2015). The contingent capital increase 

will only be implemented to the extent that the holders of conversion or option privileges from 

convertible bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights or profit participating bonds or a 

combination of these instruments issued against cash contributions by GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft 

or a subordinate group company of the Company on the basis of the authorization by the Annual 

General Meeting resolution dated April 16, 2015 exercise their conversion or option privileges, or, if 

they are obliged to convert or exercise options, satisfy their obligation to convert or exercise options, 

and if no cash settlement is granted or own shares or shares of another listed company are used in 
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settlement. New shares will be issued at the conversion or option price to be determined in each case 

in accordance with the authorizing resolution referred to above. The new shares bear dividend rights 

from the beginning of the fiscal year in which they were created as a result of the exercising of 

conversion or option privileges or the fulfillment of conversion or option obligations. The Executive 

Board is authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to determine the further details of 

the implementation of the contingent capital increase.

Under a resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting dated April 16, 2015, GEA Group 

Aktiengesellschaft is authorized to purchase own shares up to a total of 10 percent of the total 

proportionate amount of share capital in accordance with section 71(1) no. 8 of the AktG. The 

authorization is valid until April 15, 2020. The shares may be purchased via the stock exchange or by 

means of a public purchase offer to all shareholders. The shares may subsequently be used for all 

purposes allowed by law. With the approval of the Supervisory Board, the shares may also (i) be sold in 

another manner than through the stock exchange or by means of a public offering addressed to all 

shareholders, provided that the issue price of the new shares is not significantly lower than the price 

for GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft shares of the same kind at the time of sale, (ii) be transferred to 

third parties for the purpose of business combinations or the acquisition of companies, parts of 

companies, or equity interests in companies or other assets, (iii) be used to service convertible or 

option bonds, (iv) be used to implement a scrip dividend or (v) be withdrawn. Further details on the 

resolutions on the share buyback adopted by the Annual General Meeting on April 16, 2015 are 

available in the invitation to the Annual General Meeting, which was published in the electronic 

Federal Gazette on March 9, 2015.

Material agreements that take effect in the event of a change of control  
following a takeover bid 
The individual lenders of the syndicated credit line (club deal) amounting to EUR 650 million may 

refuse new drawdowns in the event of a change of control. The lenders may call in any amounts 

already drawn down and terminate the respective credit line giving 20 days’ notice.

In the case of the bond issue in the amount of approximately EUR 275 million, each bondholder has 

the right to require repayment by the issuer of the nominal amount of their bonds, including accrued 

interest, if there is a change of control and, as a result, the credit rating is revised downwards to 

noninvestment grade within 90 days of the change of control taking effect. To exercise this right to 

early repayment, the bondholder has to submit a corresponding exercise notice within 45 days of 

publication of the event by the issuer.

In the event of a change of control, the lenders of the borrower’s note loans in the total amount of 

EUR 90 million are entitled to require early repayment of their loan receivable, including interest 

accrued up to the date of the early repayment. The borrower determines the repayment date, which 

may not be fewer than 60 days and more than 90 days after the date on which the borrower was 

informed of the change of control and notified the lenders of this via the paying agent.

In the case of the loan agreement with the European Investment Bank (EIB) amounting to 

EUR 50 million, the EIB is entitled to call in the loan and require early repayment including accrued 

interest in the event of a change of control. In this case, the borrower is obliged to repay the amount 

on the date specified by the Bank, which may not be earlier than 30 days after the repayment request.
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Under a master loan agreement for EUR 230 million, which is primarily used to issue guarantees for 

subsidiaries, the lender has the right in the event of an imminent change of control to negotiate the 

continuation of the agreement under changed terms. If no agreement is reached, the master loan 

agreement will fall due with immediate effect. In this case, the lender must be released from its 

obligations under guarantees furnished within two months or, at the discretion of the borrower, the 

latter shall make a cash deposit in the amount of the outstanding obligations under the guarantees 

furnished.

All Performance Shares under the GEA Performance Share Plan expire in the event of a change of 

control. Managers who have participated in the plan then receive a compensation payment for the 

expired Performance Shares. This payment corresponds to the allocated target value in each case.

A change of control within the meaning of these agreements and the GEA Performance Share Plan is 

deemed to have occurred in particular if a majority of voting rights or shares of the Company are 

transferred to a single person or group of persons.

Compensation arrangements with members of the Executive Board or employees
Executive Board members’ contracts include provisions on the calculation of bonuses in the event of 

a change of control. Additional details can be found in the remuneration report starting on page 71. 

Further compensation arrangements with employees have been agreed with regard to the 

Performance Shares under the GEA Performance Share Plan.

Key attributes of the internal control and risk management system 
relating to the financial reporting process
See the “Risk Management System” and “Internal Control System” sections starting on page 86 ff. of 

the management report.

Overall Assessment of Business Development

Despite another economic downturn and the burden of extensive group reorganization, GEA closed 

fiscal year 2015 with success. The key indicators for the group underscore this solid performance.

At the start of the year, an increasingly challenging market environment characterized by the Greek 

sovereign debt crisis was further exacerbated by an economic downswing in many emerging markets 

– notably in China, GEA’s second biggest market. Increasing geopolitical tensions also had a negative 

impact on global economic growth. 

Inside the Company, GEA’s new group structure – more centralized on the inside, while ensuring 

much more direct lines of contact with the customer on the outside thanks to uniform national 

organizations – was implemented on schedule. By the end of the year, the savings made even 

surpassed expectations slightly. 2015 additionally saw the Company complete four acquisitions with 

an annual revenue volume of more than EUR 120 million. Against this backdrop, the Company can 

look back on what was a more than solid performance in the fiscal year 2015. 

Despite the challenging business environment, GEA posted growth in revenue of 1.9 percent, the 

value of EUR 4.6 billion constituting an all-time record. Both Business Areas played a part in this 

outcome with record revenue volumes. And the operating result (EBITDA) was even better, this 

indicator increasing by more than 5 percent to EUR 621.0 million. This corresponds to an operating 
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EBITDA margin of 13.5 percent. Both operating EBITDA and the corresponding margin represent all-

time highs for GEA. With respect to our operating cash flow driver, a very good ratio to revenue of 

10.3 percent was also achieved. GEA therefore remains in robust economic shape. 

Summing up, with the exception of revenue, it can be said that all forecasts communicated at the 

beginning of fiscal year 2015 were met or exceeded, and that the increased earnings per share and the 

provisions set aside under commercial law of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft have made it possible to 

propose a higher dividend. All told, therefore, GEA’s business development in 2015 can be considered 

positive. 

Report on Post-Balance Sheet Date Events

On February 2, 2016, GEA concluded an agreement to take over Imaforni Int’l S.p.A., a leading 

supplier of high-tech plant and equipment for pastry production. With head offices in Verona, Italy, 

the company has around 210 employees and generated revenue of some EUR 85 million in fiscal year 

2015. The acquisition will reinforce GEA’s “Application Center Bakery” by adding modern production 

lines, especially for biscuits and crackers.

Following the appointment on September 23, 2015 of two new board members (see page 37) and the 

decision by Markus Hüllmann to leave the Company at the end of the fiscal year, the responsibilities 

of the Executive Board members were realigned with effect from January 1, 2016. Thus, as from the 

start of 2016, Chairman of the Executive Board Jürg Oleas will have responsibility for all regions, 

Dr. Helmut Schmale for all finance functions and the Shared Service Center, Steffen Bersch for the 

Business Area Equipment, Niels Erik Oleas for the Business Area Solutions, and Dr. Stephan Petri for 

Human Resources, Legal & Compliance, and Internal Audit (in addition to his function as Labor 

Relations Director). 

There were no further significant events occurring in the period between the end of fiscal 2015 and 

the date the annual report was prepared that could have influenced the disclosures on the course of 

business and the expected development of the group.
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Corporate Governance Report
including Corporate Governance Statement 

The Corporate Governance Statement issued in accordance with s. 289a Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – 

German Commercial Code) does not form part of the annual audit pursuant to s. 317 para. 2 sentence 

3 German Commercial Code. 

Transparent, responsible corporate governance and control geared towards long-term value enhancement 

are given high priority at GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft. In doing so, we align our actions with the 

generally accepted principles of corporate governance while implementing the suggestions and 

recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code as amended on May 5, 2015 (published in 

the Federal Gazette on June 12, 2015) to the greatest possible extent.

Declaration of Conformity

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft complies with the recommendations of the German Corporate 

Governance Code (GCGC) as amended on May 5, 2015, and published by the Federal Ministry of Justice 

in the official section of the Federal Gazette with the following exemption and will continue to comply 

with these recommendations with such exemption:

Currently, the amount of compensation awarded to the members of the Executive Board is not capped, 

neither overall nor for individual compensation components (No. 4.2.3 para. 2 sentence 6 GCGC). 

Explanation: 

If the services of the Executive Board members entail an extraordinary increase in shareholder value, 

the Supervisory Board may, at its sole and reasonable discretion, grant a special bonus in accordance 

with the Executive Board service agreements.  The Executive Board members are not entitled to 

receive such extraordinary bonus.  The respective clause set forth in the service agreements 

concluded with the Executive Board members only authorizes the Supervisory Board to make an 

adequate discretionary decision based on statutory provisions and within the limits of the 

jurisdiction of the highest courts. Currently, the amount of this special bonus, which may only be 

awarded in exceptional circumstances, is not yet expressly capped in the service agreements of all 

Executive Board members. We consider that an amendment to existing service agreements will not 

be required in the light of both the restrictive statutory rules in place and the limits defined by the 

highest courts.  The service agreements of the Executive Board members will be amended accordingly 

step by step whenever Executive Board members are reappointed or appointed for the first time. 

Since the issuance of the last Declaration of Conformity on December 18, 2014, GEA Group 

Aktiengesellschaft has complied with the recommendations of the GCGC as amended on June 24, 

2014, and published by the Federal Ministry of Justice in the official section of the Federal Gazette, as 

well as, since their publication in the Federal Gazette, with the recommendations of the GCGC as 

amended on May 5, 2015, with the above exception in relation to No. 4.2.3 para.2 sentence 6 GCGC.

Düsseldorf, December 17, 2015

On behalf of the Supervisory Board  On behalf of the Executive Board

Dr. Jürgen Heraeus   Jürg Oleas Dr. Stephan Petri
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Global Business Conduct Policy 

The Global Business Conduct Policy of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft stipulates that the Group’s 

business activities are to comply with all existing laws and high ethical standards. This Global 

Business Conduct Policy applies to all employees and GEA bodies worldwide. It is supplemented by 

guidelines on individual topics, in particular the Anti-Corruption Guideline. In addition, the 

Company and the European Works Council jointly agreed general principles of social corporate 

responsibility (“Codes of Conduct”) laying down ethical, social and legal standards that are binding 

on all GEA employees. Based on our Global Business Conduct Policy and the “Codes of Conduct”, a 

globally applicable and uniform policy governing the areas of Health, Safety & Environment (“HSE”) 

is in place. The Global Business Conduct Policy, the Anti-Corruption Guideline, the HSE policy and 

further information are published on the website of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft under Investor 

Relations/Corporate Governance.  

Compliance

Compliance in the sense of measures designed to ensure adherence to legal, statutory and internal 

corporate policies, as well as group companies’ compliance therewith, is considered to be a key 

management and supervisory task at GEA Group. For this purpose, the Company established a 

compliance organization some years ago. Group-wide compliance activities focus on corruption 

prevention, anti-trust law, export control as well as data protection. The Chief Compliance Officer 

coordinates and ensures the implementation of compliance measures, in particular in the areas 

mentioned above. In this capacity, he/she reports to both the Executive Board and the Audit 

Committee of the Supervisory Board. The Chief Compliance Officer is supported by the extended 

legal compliance and operational export control organization. The latter was adjusted in connection 

with the “Fit for 2020” project.  From now on, key legal compliance activities will be concentrated 

under the “Compliance & Principle Legal Matters” section in the group legal department. When the 

new organization came into place, the former Segment Compliance Officers were replaced the 

Business Area Compliance Officers who are also part of the central legal department. As before, each 

operating company is assigned a Company Compliance Manager. In addition, a Compliance 

Committee advising the Chief Compliance Officer may be convened if need be. In parallel, GEA 

operates a worldwide export control organization. Upon entry into force of the new organization, the 

former Segment Export Managers were replaced by Business Area Export Managers. Like before, 

each operating company is assigned one Company Export Manager.  

The members of the compliance organization meet at regular intervals to discuss the latest 

developments and the potential impact of and/or need to supplement GEA’s compliance program. 

Since December 1, 2014, GEA has relied on the so-called Integrity System that was implemented on a 

global level. This Integrity System allows GEA employees and external third parties to report 

suspected compliance infringements or violations of GEA’s Codes of Conduct – principles of social 

responsibility – via an internet-based system. Moreover, the group employees responsible for 

compliance regularly receive classroom and web-based trainings covering current issues and 

regulations relative to the law, the Global Business Conduct Policy and GEA’s additional compliance 

guidelines. GEA’s extensive compliance program is rounded off by a close cooperation between the 

compliance organization and the Group’s internal audit department as well as direct talks held at a 

local level between representatives of the compliance organization and local managers for evaluating 

best practices within the Group. 
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Finally, the Company set up an HSE organization designed to develop and implement group-wide 

guidelines, programs and procedures in this specific field.

Responsible risk management 

Sustainable growth can only be achieved if both the opportunities and the risks associated with 

business activities are identified and adequately taken into account. For this reason, an effective 

control and risk management system represents one of the core elements of corporate governance at 

GEA. Further information is provided on pages 86 ff. of this Annual Report.

Transparency in accounting and audit transparency 

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft is committed to transparent reporting. The Company’s consolidated 

financial statements and half-yearly financial reports are prepared in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. The single 

entity financial statements of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft, which are legally required and 

determine dividend payout, are governed by the German Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German 

Commercial Code). The Supervisory Board engages the external auditor elected by the shareholders 

at the Annual General Meeting. The Audit Committee gives particular attention to the oversight of 

the accounting process, the effectiveness of the internal control, risk management and internal audit 

systems, the audit of the annual financial statements as well as compliance, agrees the key audit areas 

with the auditor while resolving on the audit fee. In doing so, it ensures that the auditor’s work is not 

compromised by any conflicts of interest and that the auditor immediately reports on any and all 

findings and events relevant to the Supervisory Board’s discharge of duties that have come to the 

attention of the auditor in the course of the audit. In addition to the consolidated and annual 

financial statements, the Audit Committee also discusses the half-yearly and quarterly reports with 

the Executive Board. 

Detailed reporting 

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft communicates openly, actively and extensively. It regularly and 

promptly informs shareholders, shareholders’ associations, analysts, and interested members of the 

public on equal terms about the Company’s situation as well as any material changes to its business. 

In this respect, the Company’s website constitutes an important means of communication. It contains 

annual and interim reports, press releases, ad hoc disclosures as well as other notifications required 

under the Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHG – German Securities Trading Act), the financial calendar 

and other relevant information. Moreover, the Group regularly holds analyst meetings, press 

conferences and events for investors. All presentations delivered on these occasions can also be 

downloaded from our website under “Investors”.

Directors‘ Dealings and shareholdings of members of governing bodies 

Under section 15a Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHG – German Securities Trading Act), Executive 

Board and Supervisory Board members or their related parties are obliged to disclose reportable 

transactions in shares of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft or related financial instruments if the 

transactions concluded in one calendar year reach or exceed the threshold of EUR 5,000. The 

transactions reported to the Company in the previous fiscal year 2015 were duly published and are 

available on the Company’s website. The total number of shares in GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft 

held by all Executive Board and Supervisory Board members amounts to less than 1 percent of the 

shares issued by the Company.
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Securities-based remuneration program for company executives 

With effect from July 1, 2006, GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft launched a long-term, share price-based 

remuneration program called “GEA Performance Share Plan” for certain managers below Executive 

Board level. Details are available in note 7.3.4 (see page 190 ff.) to the consolidated financial 

statements.

Corporate governance and control: Executive Board and Supervisory Board

GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft is subject to the German Stock Corporation Act and, thus, runs a dual 

board system comprising an executive and a supervisory board. The Executive Board constitutes the 

Group’s management body. The Supervisory Board, which is composed of twelve members, half of 

whom are shareholder representatives while the other half comprises employee representatives, 

appoints and advises the Executive Board while overseeing its work. The Executive Board and the 

Supervisory Board cooperate closely for the benefit of the Company, their common goal being the 

sustainable increase in enterprise value.

Executive Board

The Executive Board holds overall responsibility for the management of the Company in accordance 

with statutory requirements, the Articles of Association as well as the rules of procedure and the 

corporate policies that are in place. In line with the rules of procedure of the Executive Board, each 

Executive Board member has overall responsibility for and independently manages the area of 

responsibility assigned to him under the schedule of responsibilities, while keeping the entire 

Executive Board informed of any and all essential business matters on a permanent basis. Decisions 

on subject matters of fundamental importance or particular magnitude must be taken by the entire 

Executive Board. Executive Board resolutions are adopted at regular meetings or, should no member 

of the Executive Board raise any objections, in writing, orally (also via telephone), via telefax or by 

referring to other common means of communication such as email. Each member of the Executive 

Board must immediately disclose conflicts of interests to the Supervisory Board and inform the other 

members of the Executive Board, accordingly.

The Executive Board reports to the Supervisory Board regularly, promptly and comprehensively on 

all issues relating to strategy, planning, business progress, risk exposure, the risk management system 

as well as compliance that are relevant to the Company. Should important issues or business matters 

that may considerably impact on the situation of the Company arise, the Executive Board will notify 

the Chairman of the Supervisory Board without undue delay.  The Articles of Association and the 

rules of procedure specify key transactions that require the Supervisory Board’s approval. Further 

information on the individual members of the Executive Board can be found on pages 21 and 232 of 

this Annual Report.

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board advises the Executive Board on the management of the Company and 

oversees its conduct of the Company’s business. Between the Supervisory Board meetings, the 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board maintains regular contact with the Executive Board, in particular 

the Chairman of the Executive Board, with whom he discusses matters of strategy, planning, business 

progress, risk exposure, risk management and compliance that are of relevance to the Company.  The 

Supervisory Board usually holds 6 meetings per calendar year that are attended by the Executive 

Board members unless the Chairman of the Supervisory Board determines otherwise. As a rule, the 

Combined Group Management Report / Corporate Governance Report



68 GEA Annual Report 2015

Supervisory Board’s resolutions are adopted at these meetings. Unless the majority of Supervisory 

Board members immediately object, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board can instruct the 

members to adopt resolutions during a conference call or a video conference or outside of meetings 

by casting their votes in writing, text form or by telephone. Resolutions require a simple majority of 

the votes cast unless the law provides for a different majority. After notice of the meeting has been 

given to all members, the Supervisory Board has a quorum when a minimum of half of its members 

vote on a resolution by attending in person, by telephone or video conference or have cast their votes 

in writing or text form pursuant to s. 108 para. 3 Aktiengesetz (AktG - German Stock Corporation Act).

When appointing members to the Executive Board and proposing candidates for election to the 

Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board and its Committees will take into account a balanced mix 

of specialist expertise and personal attributes as well as the criterion of diversity. 

At its meeting held on December 17, 2015, the Supervisory Board revised the specific objectives 

relative to its composition, which had previously been amended in 2014, by taking into consideration 

the recommendations set out in the German Corporate Governance Code, resolving as follows: In 

general, the members of the Supervisory Board – while taking into account the specific situation of 

the Company – are to have the knowledge, skills and specialist expertise required to ensure the 

proper performance of their duties. In this context, the Supervisory Board will also pay attention to 

industry knowledge, an adequate number of independent members, international experience as well 

as diversity. With a view to the best interests of the Company, the decisive criterion for appointments 

of Supervisory Board members shall always be the specialist expertise and personal suitability of the 

respective candidate.

With a view to section 5.4.1 paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the German Corporate Governance Code, the 

Supervisory Board seeks to ensure a board composition that takes into account the following elements in 

relation to the current and next term of office: The number of Supervisory Board members with an 

international background is to be at least maintained at its current level. In terms of the origin, the 

professional and cultural background as well as the age and gender of its members, the Supervisory 

Board is to reflect diversity. The Supervisory Board shall include – what it considers to be – an adequate 

number of independent members (s. 2 para. 3 Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board). The 

Supervisory Board seeks to ensure that a minimum of two thirds of the shareholder representatives is 

independent in line with the definition given under section 5.4.2 sentence 2 of the German Corporate 

Governance Code. As a rule, a member’s uninterrupted service on the Supervisory Board shall not exceed 

three full terms of office and/or a period of 15 years. As a rule, nominations shall only consider 

individuals who have not yet reached the age of 70 at the date of the Annual General Meeting resolving 

on the election of the proposed candidates (s. 2 para. 1 Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board). In 

its current composition, the Supervisory Board complies with these targets. 

With Brigitte Krönchen’s appointment as new employee representative in November 2014, the number 

of female Supervisory Board members climbed to three; as a result, the current proportion of women on 

the Supervisory Board amounts to 25 percent. The Supervisory Board is cognizant of the fact that the 

entry into force of the Act on Equal Participation of Women and Men in Executive Positions in the 

Private and the Public Sector implies a legally binding minimum quota of 30 percent for the 

underrepresented gender on the Supervisory Board that will be applicable to any future Supervisory 

Board elections held as of 2016. In the future, the Supervisory Board candidates proposed for election 

will comply with this requirement. 
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Supervisory Board Committees  

The work of the Supervisory Board is supported by Committees. These are primarily the Presiding 

Committee and the Audit Committee, as well as the statutory Mediation Committee and the 

Nomination Committee recommended by the German Corporate Governance Code. The Presiding 

Committee, the Audit Committee and the Mediation Committee each comprise four members and 

feature equal representation of shareholder and employee representatives. The Nomination 

Committee consists of three members who include exclusively shareholder representatives in 

accordance with section 5.3.3 of the German Corporate Governance Code.

Both the Presiding Committee and the Audit Committee usually meet four to five times each calendar 

year. During meetings, Presiding Committee and Audit Committee resolutions are adopted by a 

simple majority of the votes cast, while outside of meetings, they are passed by a simple majority of 

the members. If the vote is tied, the respective chairman has a casting vote in the event of another 

ballot on the same resolution. The Nomination Committee and the Mediation Committee only hold 

meetings when required.

The duties of the Presiding Committee, which is chaired by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, 

include the preparation of the meetings of the Supervisory Board. Furthermore, the Presiding 

Committee’s specific responsibility is to define the legal relationship between the Company and the 

individual Executive Board members, and to ensure Executive Board succession planning. In this 

context, decisions on the Executive Board remuneration system, the total remuneration awarded to 

the individual Executive Board members, as well as their appointment and dismissal are reserved to 

the full Supervisory Board. 

The Audit Committee, whose chairman has a sound knowledge of and experience in applying 

financial accounting and reporting standards as well as internal control systems, is primarily 

responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process and dealing with matters regarding the 

efficiency of the internal control system, the risk management system, the internal audit process and 

the audit of the annual financial statements. In addition, it monitors compliance with key legislation 

and official regulations, as well as internal guidelines including GEA’s Global Business Conduct Policy 

(compliance).

The Mediation Committee performs its duties as set out in ss. 27, 31 Mitbestimmungsgesetz 

(MitbestG - German Co-determination Act). The task of the Nomination Committee is to propose 

suitable candidates to the Supervisory Board based upon which the latter submits its nominations to 

the Annual General Meeting.

Further information on the composition of the Supervisory Board and its Committees can be found 

on the Company’s website at www.gea.com, as well as on pages 232 and 233 of this Annual Report. In 

addition, the Report of the Supervisory Board on pages 17 ff. of this Annual Report gives further 

details on the activities performed by the Supervisory Board and its Committees in the fiscal year 2015. 
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Commitment to promoting the participation of women in executive positions in accordance 
with s. 76 para. 4 and s. 111 para. 5 Aktiengesetz (German Stock Corporation Act)  

Since 2011, GEA has promoted diversity within the Group. A detailed description of our diversity 

strategy is provided in the Sustainability Report (see page 111). Within the framework of its diversity 

strategy, GEA, inter alia, pursues the objective of promoting female talent and attracting more women 

to GEA. In the long run, the Company is seeking to increase the proportion of women on all 

management levels. GEA will continue to encourage this process by means of strategic measures.

The Act on Equal Participation of Women and Men in Executive Positions in the Private and Public 

Sector, which took effect in April 2015, for the first time requires certain companies in Germany to 

define targets in relation to the proportion of women represented on the Supervisory Board, the 

Executive Board and/or the Board of Directors as well as on the two management levels below, and to 

set target dates for achieving the respective quota of women. In this context, the law requires that the 

first deadline for implementation to be set by the Company shall be no later than June 30, 2017. With 

effect from January 1, 2016, a statutory minimum quota of 30 percent applies to the underrepresented 

gender on the supervisory boards of listed and codetermined companies like GEA Group 

Aktiengesellschaft; this quota has to be observed whenever the Company seeks to replace a retiring 

Supervisory Board member.

In view of the very brief maximum statutory period permitted for initial implementation of the 

relevant target that expires on June 30, 2017, and bearing in mind the current composition of the 

Executive Board, the Supervisory Board of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft resolved on a 0 percent 

target for the proportion of women represented on the Executive Board of GEA Group Aktien gesell-

schaft at its Supervisory Board meeting held on September 23, 2015; this target is to be implemented 

in line with the above-mentioned first statutory period for implementation.  

On September 7, 2015, the Executive Board of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft determined target quotas 

in relation to the proportion of women represented on the first and/or second management level 

below the Executive Board of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft, with first-time implementation being 

subject to the maximum statutory period mentioned above. In the light of the brief initial deadline for 

implementation ending on June 30, 2017, the two defined targets of 18.1 percent and/or 23.5 percent 

reflect the status quo at the time the Company made this commitment, which, of course, does not 

preclude an increase in the share of women on these two management levels. 

In due time, the other GEA Group companies affected by this law also set targets for the proportion of 

women represented on the Supervisory Board and/or the Board of Directors as well as the two 

uppermost management levels below the Board of Directors, and defined the deadlines for 

implementing these targets.
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Remuneration Report  

The Remuneration Report outlines the key principles applied for determining the total remuneration 

of the members of the Executive Board of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft and sets out the structure 

and level of Executive Board remuneration. Furthermore, it specifies the principles and the level of 

remuneration awarded to the members of the Supervisory Board.

The Remuneration Report comprises details of the remuneration of board members pursuant to the 

German Commercial Code in accordance with DRS no. 17 (German Accounting Standard 17). Since 

GEA complies with the corresponding recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code 

(GCGC), this Remuneration Report also includes the model tables on Executive Board remuneration 

pursuant to the GCGC (see p. 82 ff.). 

Executive Board remuneration

General remarks 

Acting on the recommendation of the Presiding Committee, the Supervisory Board determines the 

total remuneration of the individual Executive Board members and resolves on the remuneration 

system applicable to the Executive Board. The Supervisory Board reviews the appropriateness of the 

remuneration at regular intervals. Criteria for determining the appropriateness of the remuneration 

include the responsibilities of the individual Executive Board members, their respective personal 

performance, the business situation, the success and the future prospects of the Company as well as 

the common level of compensation taking into account the peer companies and the compensation 

structure in place in other areas of the Company. 

Creating an incentive geared towards successful and sustainable corporate governance represents an 

essential element of any decision taken with regard to the remuneration system. The latter is to 

ensure that the Executive Board members strive for the long-term success of the Company while 

participating in a sustainable value enhancement. For this reason, a significant part of total 

remuneration is tied to GEA’s share performance as well as key performance indicators, notably a 

combination of cash flow aspects and the return on capital employed (ROCE), i.e. a ratio for 

measuring return on capital. This ensures that outstanding performance is adequately rewarded and 

non-accomplishment of set targets results in a reduction in remuneration. 

The remuneration system that was approved by a large majority of the votes at the Annual General 

Meeting held on April 24, 2012, comprises non-performance-related and various performance-related 

and/or variable components. The variable remuneration system seeks to provide for a highly balanced 

risk and opportunity profile from the shareholders’ and Executive Board’s perspective and to further 

enhance the sustainability of the remuneration system by decoupling short-term from long-term bonus 

elements. In addition, it is comparatively simple to transfer the system to the management levels below 

Executive Board level, thereby guaranteeing enhanced operations management. 
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Remuneration components 

In the fiscal year 2015, the remuneration of the Executive Board members was composed as follows: 

Fixed components of remuneration and fringe benefits 
The non-performance-related component of remuneration mainly consists of a fixed annual salary 

that is paid in twelve equal installments at the end of each calendar month. 

The fixed annual salary awarded to Jürg Oleas in the year under review amounted to EUR 1,250 

thousand per annum. Dr. Helmut Schmale’s remuneration for the period starting January 1, 2015, 

through March 31, 2015, totaled EUR 675 thousand per annum, increasing to EUR 700 thousand per 

annum for the period commencing April 1, 2015, through December 31, 2015, Dr. Stephan Petri’s 

salary for the period starting January 1, 2015, through May 31, 2015, totaled EUR 550 thousand per 

annum, increasing to EUR 570 thousand per annum for the period commencing June 1, 2015, through 

December 31, 2015, while Markus Hüllmann was awarded EUR 550 thousand per annum in the year 

under review. 

In addition, the Executive Board members receive fringe benefits.  During the year under review, the 

latter mainly comprised the value of the company car use in accordance with tax regulations, 

accident insurance premiums, and – for Markus Hüllmann – the reimbursement of costs incurred for 

the maintenance of two households.

Variable components of remuneration
In addition, each member of the Executive Board receives a variable annual remuneration (bonus) 

whose level depends on the achievement of specific targets set by the Supervisory Board. In terms of 

a target achievement of 100 percent, the level of variable remuneration equals that of the fixed 

remuneration component (target bonus). To ensure that both positive and negative developments are 

taken into account, the proportion of variable remuneration increases or decreases in the event of 

target over- or underachievement. 

The bonus consists of 3 components. The latter comprise both one-year and multi-year bases of 

assessment. Each of the 3 components provides for a cap. Furthermore, taken together, all 3 bonus 

components applicable to a specific fiscal year are limited to 240 percent of the target bonus (overall 

cap). At its own discretion, the Supervisory Board takes into account extraordinary events and 

developments indicating that a readjustment of the respective value computed in line with the 

provisions set forth in the contract is appropriate.

Individual component (weighting of 40 percent)

The individual component of variable remuneration is payable with the next regular salary payment 

following the date of the Supervisory Board meeting convened to adopt the financial statements for 

the preceding fiscal year. Its amount is calculated on the basis of 3 to 5 personal annual targets 

determined for the respective fiscal year by the Supervisory Board. When determining these 

individual targets, the Supervisory Board primarily bases its decision on the sustainability of 

corporate governance, for instance organic revenue growth relative to global economic growth. The 

Supervisory Board’s definition of the individual targets also includes their respective weighting.

Under the variable remuneration component, the individual component has a weighting of 

40 percent, i.e., 40 percent of the variable remuneration (target amount) is payable if 100 percent of 

the target set in relation to the individual component is achieved. The overall degree of target 

achievement and, thus, the amount paid out under the individual component, are limited to 

200 percent of this target amount (cap).
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After the end of the fiscal year, the Supervisory Board decides on the degree of target achievement. 

For the year 2015, the Supervisory Board has ascertained a 106.0 percent degree of average target 

achievement (previous year: 129.2 %) for the members of the Executive Board.1

Multi-year component (weighting of 40 percent) 

The multi-year component is payable with the next regular salary payment following the date of the 

Supervisory Board meeting convened to adopt the financial statements for the preceding fiscal year. 

Performance measurement under the multi-year component takes place retrospectively for the previous 

3 fiscal years. The period of assessment covers the respective fiscal year just ended, as well as the two 

preceding fiscal years. The basis of assessment is tied to key performance indicators embracing a 

combination of cash flow aspects (the so-called “cash flow driver margin” (CFDM)) and the “return on 

capital employed” (ROCE).

- The CFDM target is a simplified cash flow indicator (EBITDA minus capital expenditure in 

property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets (Capex) minus change in working 

capital on a 12-month average) calculated as a ratio of revenue. The CFDM actually generated is 

calculated on the basis of average values achieved over the previous three years. The degree of 

target achievement results from a comparison between the achieved CFDM and the target value or 

target achievement corridor defined by the Supervisory Board. As for the fiscal year 2015, just like 

the previous year, 100 percent of the target is achieved if the Group’s CFDM during the preceding 

three-year period averages 8 percent. If the CFDM is lower or higher, the degree of target 

achievement will go up or down, with a CFDM less than or equal to 4.5 percent being equivalent to 

a target achievement of zero percent, while a CFDM greater than or equal to 13.25 percent 

represents a maximum target achievement of 250 percent. 

- The level of the ROCE component (ROCE: return on capital employed), which is calculated on the 

basis of average values attained over the previous three years, corresponds to the ratio of earnings 

before interest and taxes (EBIT) to the capital employed, while excluding goodwill arising on the 

acquisition of the former GEA AG by the former Metallgesellschaft AG back in 1999 including 

effects attributable to the award proceedings. The degree of target achievement depends on the 

actual ROCE achieved compared with the target value or target achievement corridor of +/- 5 

percentage points defined by the Supervisory Board. As for 2015, just like the previous year, 

100 percent of the target is achieved if the Group’s ROCE averages 19 percent during the preceding 

three-year period. If the actual ROCE level is greater than or less than this percentage, but within 

the defined corridor of +/- 5 percentage points, the degree of target achievement is increased or 

reduced by up to 50 percentage points. 

The key performance indicators CFDM and ROCE are adjusted for the impact of acquisitions made in 

the fiscal year 2014 or later. With respect to acquisitions, such adjustment is effected in the year of 

first-time consolidation, and in the following fiscal year, respectively. The adjustment includes all 

acquisitions that require the consent of the Supervisory Board or the Presiding Committee of the 

Supervisory Board. 

For calculating the overall degree of target achievement, the respective degrees of target achievement 

relevant to the individual key performance indicators CFDM and ROCE are multiplied. Under the 

variable remuneration component, the multi-year component has a weighting of 40 percent, i.e. 

40 percent of variable remuneration is payable (target amount) if 100 percent of the target set in relation 

to the multi-year component is achieved. The overall degree of target achievement and, thus, the amount 

paid out under the multi-year component, are limited to 250 percent of this target amount (cap).
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During the preceding three-year period an average of 8.3 percent was achieved for the CFDM key 

performance indicator that is the result of a CFDM of 9.6 percent in the fiscal year 2013, 9.0 percent in 

the fiscal year 2014 and 6.3 percent in the fiscal year 2015. Thus, in 2015, the degree of target 

achievement for the CFDM amounts to 108.5 percent (previous year: 95.8 percent). For the ROCE key 

performance indicator an average of 20.0 percent was achieved during the preceding three-year 

period; it is the result of a ROCE of 22.1 percent in the fiscal year 2013, 22.6 percent in the fiscal year 

2014 and 15.2 percent in the fiscal year 2015. Thus, for the fiscal year 2015, the degree of ROCE target 

achievement amounts to 110.0 percent (previous year: 114.8 percent). As to the variable remuneration 

awarded in 2015, the overall degree of target achievement under the multi-year component amounted 

to 119.3 percent (previous year: 109.9 percent).2

Share price component (weighting of 20 percent)

The long-term share price component is payable at the end of a three-year performance period with 

the next regular salary payment following the date of the Supervisory Board meeting convened to 

adopt the financial statements for the preceding fiscal year. Performance measurement relating to the 

long-term share price component is conducted by taking a forward-looking approach. The period of 

assessment covers a three-year performance period including the relevant fiscal year as well as the 

two subsequent fiscal years. 

Under the variable remuneration component, the long-term share price component has a weighting 

of 20 percent, i.e., 20 percent of variable remuneration is payable (target amount) if 100 percent of the 

set target is achieved. The overall degree of target achievement and, thus, the amount paid out under 

the long-term share price component is limited to 300 percent of the target amount (cap).

Performance measurement for the relevant three-year period is conducted by means of a comparison 

between the performance of GEA shares (adjusted for dividends) and the performance of the 

STOXX® Europe TMI Industrial Engineering (TMI IE) index, in which a large number of European 

industrial firms are listed. This comparison is computed on the basis of the respective arithmetic 

mean closing prices on the last 20 trading days preceding the start of the three-year performance 

period. 100 percent of the target is attained if the evolution of the daily arithmetic mean closing 

prices of GEA’s share fully (i.e. 100 percent) corresponds to the relevant TMI IE performance during the 

three-year performance period. The degree of target achievement increases or decreases by 4 percent 

for each percentage point greater than or less than a performance level of 100 percent. In the event of 

outperformance greater than 100 percent, the amount paid out rises to a maximum of 300 percent of 

the target amount. If the increase in GEA’s share price over the three-year period is less than 

100 percent of the growth in the TMI IE, the amount payable is reduced accordingly down to a 

performance level of 75 percent. Should GEA shares have dropped, the Supervisory Board may still 

award a payment if GEA shares have nonetheless outperformed the TMI IE. Such a decision and the 

level of the amount to be paid out are subject to discretion by the Supervisory Board. 

During the year under review, no payment under the long-term share price component was made as 

the latter (in a forward-looking way) is measured over a three-year period. The amount paid out under 

the long-term share price component for the fiscal year 2015 is measured over the three-year period 

between 2015 and 2017; payment is scheduled for the fiscal year 2018. In the year under review, the 

2012 tranche in the amount of EUR 784 thousand was paid out on the basis of a target achievement 

level of 136.8 percent. As of December 31, 2015, the computed degree of target achievement for the 

2015 tranche amounted to 88.3 percent while totaling 116.6 percent (previous year: 98.7 percent) for 

the 2014 tranche and 199.0 percent for the 2013 tranche (previous year: 172.2 percent).3

2) The degree of overall target achievement and/or degrees of target achievement are rounded figures, respectively.
3) The degrees of target achievement are rounded figures, respectively. 
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Summary of the variable remuneration components 

The following table summarizes the respective weighting and assessment periods applicable to the 

variable components:

Variable remuneration 
component Target Weighting Cap Overall cap

Assessment period

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Individual component Personal targets 40% 200%

240%

One year

Multi-year component

Combination of 
cash flow driver 
margin and 
ROCE

40% 250% Retrospective (3 years)

Long-term share price 
component

Share price in 
relation to TMI IE 20% 300% Forward-looking (3 years)

In exceptional circumstances, the Supervisory Board may also grant a special bonus to the members of 

the Executive Board if their activities have resulted in an extraordinary value enhancement for the 

benefit of the Company’s shareholders. Exercising its sole and reasonable discretion, the Supervisory 

Board decides to grant this special bonus and sets the respective amount. In the currently applicable 

service agreements concluded with Dr. Helmut Schmale and Dr. Stefan Petri, the level of this special 

bonus, which may only be awarded in exceptional circumstances, is subject to an express cap equaling a 

maximum of 100 percent of the target bonus. Such a cap will also be stipulated in connection with 

further reappointments or new appointments of Executive Board members. Consequently, it was 

incorporated into the service agreements of Steffen Bersch and Niels Erik Olsen who were appointed to 

the Executive Board with effect from January 1, 2016. 

Pension benefits and surviving dependents‘ benefits 

Jürg Oleas
The contractual pension benefits of the Chairman of the Executive Board, Jürg Oleas, will amount to a 

maximum of EUR 360 thousand p.a., with full entitlement to the pension arising after 18 years of service 

(end of April 2019). Under this agreement, maximum pension benefits will be awarded once his 

Executive Board service agreement ends when or after he reaches the age of 62 or if he becomes 

permanently unable to work. If Jürg Oleas’ service agreement ends before one of the aforementioned 

conditions for payment of a pension is met or before he has completed 18 years of service, he will have 

vested rights to a pro rata annual pension payable once he reaches the age of 62. The respective amount 

is calculated based on the ratio of his actual years of service to the maximum period of 18 years of 

service. If Jürg Oleas leaves the Company after a minimum of 15 years of service, but before reaching the 

age of 62, he will receive a pension in the form of a transitional benefit of EUR 220 thousand p.a. until he 

reaches the age of 62. In the event of Mr. Oleas’ premature departure, any agreed severance payment will 

be set off against his transitional benefits. All and any income from activities he engages in after leaving 

the Company, but prior to reaching the age of 62, will be fully deducted from the transitional benefits up 

to a maximum amount of half of the transitional payment awarded in the respective year. Regular 

pension benefits will be adjusted annually in line with the consumer price index.

The surviving dependents’ benefits defined in Jürg Oleas’ service agreement mainly provide for a lifelong 

widow’s pension as well as an orphan’s pension. The lifelong widow’s pension amounts to 60 percent of 

the retirement pension. The orphan’s pension is a specific percentage of the retirement pension and its 

amount depends on the number of children and on whether they are full or half orphans. In principle, 

entitlement to an orphan’s pension expires on reaching the age of 18, or at the latest on reaching the age 

of 25 if the child in question is still at school or in vocational or professional training. Collectively, 

widow’s and orphan’s pensions must not exceed the amount of the retirement pension.
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Dr. Helmut Schmale
The contractual pension benefits of the Chief Financial Officer, Dr. Helmut Schmale, amount to a 

maximum of EUR 200 thousand p.a. Under this arrangement, maximum pension benefits will be paid 

once his service agreement ends when or after Dr. Schmale reaches the age of 62 or if he becomes 

permanently unable to work. Should Dr. Helmut Schmale’s service agreement end before one of the 

above conditions for payment of his pension is met, he will have vested rights to a pro rata annual 

pension that becomes payable once he reaches the age of 62. The amount of this pension is calculated 

on the basis of the ratio of his actual length of service for GEA to the maximum possible length of 

service on reaching the age of 62. Regular pensions will be adjusted annually in line with the 

consumer price index.

Should Dr. Helmut Schmale be voluntarily enrolled in a state pension scheme, the Company will pay 

the employer’s contribution to be granted under such a statutory pension scheme. 

In addition, in each fiscal year, Dr. Helmut Schmale is entitled to make a personal contribution to a 

deferred compensation pension scheme for Executive Board members. No employer subsidy will be paid.

The surviving dependents’ benefits defined in Dr. Helmut Schmale’s service agreement are in line 

with the provisions outlined above in relation to Jürg Oleas.

Dr. Stephan Petri
The contractual pension benefits of Dr. Stephan Petri, member of the Executive Board, amount to a 

maximum of EUR 200 thousand p.a. Under this arrangement, maximum pension benefits will be paid 

once the Executive Board service agreement ends when or after Dr. Petri reaches the age of 62 or if he 

becomes permanently unable to work. Should Dr. Stephan Petri’s Executive Board service agreement 

end before one of the above conditions for payment of a pension is met, he will enjoy vested rights to 

a maximum annual pension of EUR 200 thousand payable on reaching the age of 62 that may be 

reduced subject to the ratio of his actual term of service for GEA Group to the term of service 

required for obtaining his full pension benefits. Regular pensions will be adjusted annually in line 

with the consumer price index.

Should Dr. Stefan Petri be voluntarily enrolled in a state pension scheme, the Company will pay the 

employer’s contribution to be granted under such a statutory pension scheme or one of the pension 

schemes for the liberal professions.  

In addition, in each fiscal year, Dr. Stephan Petri is entitled to make a personal contribution to a 

deferred compensation pension scheme for Executive Board members. No employer subsidy will be 

paid. Moreover, Dr. Stephan Petri is entitled to personal contributions under the deferred 

compensation pension scheme in connection with his participation in GEA’s executive pension 

scheme prior to his appointment to the Executive Board.

The surviving dependents’ benefits defined in Dr. Stephan Petri’s service agreement are in line with 

the provisions outlined above in relation to Jürg Oleas.   
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Markus Hüllmann
The contractual pension benefits of Markus Hüllmann, member of the Executive Board, amount to a 

maximum of EUR 200 thousand p.a. Under this arrangement, maximum pension benefits will be paid 

once the Executive Board service agreement ends when or after Markus Hüllmann reaches the age of 

62 or if he becomes permanently unable to work. Should Markus Hüllmann’s Executive Board service 

agreement end before one of the above conditions for payment of a pension is met, he will enjoy 

vested rights to a maximum annual pension of EUR 200 thousand payable on reaching the age of 62 

that may be reduced subject to the ratio of his actual term of service for GEA to the term of service 

required for obtaining his full pension benefits. Pursuant to these contractual provisions, Mr. 

Hüllmann, who left GEA at the end of the fiscal year 2015, will be entitled to receive a pro rata annual 

pension in the amount of EUR 147,590 on reaching the age of 62. Regular pensions will be adjusted 

annually in line with the consumer price index.

Should Markus Hüllmann be voluntarily enrolled in a state pension scheme, the Company will pay 

the employer’s contribution to be granted under such a statutory pension scheme. 

In addition, in each fiscal year, Markus Hüllmann is entitled to make a personal contribution to a 

deferred compensation pension scheme for Executive Board members. No employer subsidy will be 

paid. Moreover, Markus Hüllmann is entitled to personal contributions under the deferred 

compensation pension scheme in connection with his participation in GEA’s executive pension 

scheme prior to his appointment to the Executive Board.

The surviving dependents’ benefits defined in Markus Hüllmann’s service agreement are in line with 

the provisions outlined above in relation to Jürg Oleas.

Pension plan reinsurance and capitalization option 
As the contractual pension commitments made to the members of the Executive Board had only been 

partly protected against insolvency, namely in the amount of the sum covered by the Pensions-

Sicherungs-Verein (PSV - Pension Protection Fund), the Supervisory Board decided to take out 

pension plan reinsurance policies to secure the proportion of the pension commitments not covered 

by the PSV for the benefit of the individual Executive Board members in 2014. At the same time, the 

members of the Executive Board were granted a capitalization option. The level of the capitalization 

amount is equivalent to the pension liabilities ascertained by applying the basis of calculation used 

for the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements. Such capitalization option may be 

exercised upon retirement, but no earlier than age 62. It will be possible to exercise this option in 

part or several times. Any exercise of such capitalization option will entail a corresponding reduction 

of entitlements under the contractually guaranteed benefits for surviving dependents.  
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Pension scheme contributions and provisions for pension obligations

The Company has set aside pension provisions for the future entitlements of Executive Board 

members. The amounts added to such pension provisions for active Executive Board members in 

accordance with IFRS are listed individually in the table below as of the end of the fiscal year 2015. 

The corresponding amounts comprise service cost as well as interest cost.

(EUR)

Pension benefits p. a. 
(as of 12/31/2015;  

annual entitlements at 
start of pension)

Annual pension 
entitlements earned as 

of 12/31/2015

Additions to
pension provisions 
in fiscal year 2015

Present value of 
pension benefits as 

of 12/31/2015

Jürg Oleas 360,000 293,333 576,105 8,320,026

Dr. Helmut Schmale 200,000 177,994 298,980 5,378,259

Dr. Stephan Petri * 256,695 181,573 302,692 5,723,298

Markus Hüllmann * 216,912 164,503 708,432 3,461,561

Total 1,033,607 817,403 1,886,209 22,883,144

*)  Along with their pension benefits as members of the Executive Board in the amount of EUR 200,000 per annum, Dr. Stephan Petri and Markus Hüllmann are entitled to benefits from own 
contributions for deferred compensation in connection with their participation in the pension scheme for GEA executives prior to their appointment as members of the Executive Board. The 
amount for Dr. Petri is EUR 33,855 and EUR 16,912 for Markus Hüllmann (calculated on the basis of a retirement age of 62, respectively). Due to his participation in the deferred compensa-
tion scheme for members of the Executive Board, Dr. Petri is entitled to benefits in the amount of EUR 22,840 (calculated on the basis of a retirement age of 62).

Termination rights, premature termination of an Executive Board member‘s  
appointment, change of control events and effects on remuneration

The Chairman of the Executive Board has a unilateral right of termination if the Supervisory Board 

revokes his appointment as Chairman of the Executive Board without simultaneously declaring the 

effective revocation of his appointment as a member of the Executive Board in accordance with s. 84 

para. 3 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG - German Stock Corporation Act). Should he exercise his unilateral 

right of termination and leave the Executive Board, he will be entitled to receive the corresponding 

fixed salary for the remaining months of his contractual term, but no longer than 8 months. 

If the appointment of an Executive Board member is revoked for good cause with legal effect in 

accordance with s. 84 para. 3 AktG or if an Executive Board member validly resigns from office 

pursuant to s. 84 para. 3 of the AktG, the Executive Board member’s service agreement will end on 

expiry of the statutory notice period under s. 622 para.1, 2 Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch (BGB – German 

Civil Code). 

In this event, the respective Executive Board member will first of all receive the bonus he has earned 

and is entitled to up to the date of his departure. For calculating this bonus, an overall degree of target 

achievement in relation to the individual component is ascertained on the basis of the targets achieved 

by the Executive Board member up to the time of his departure. Subsequently, the corresponding pro 

rata bonus under the individual component is calculated by forming the ratio of this overall degree of 

target achievement to the target amount set for the entire fiscal year. The pro rata bonus under the 

multi-year component for the relevant fiscal year is computed by applying the principle of pro rata 

temporis. As for annual tranches outstanding under the long-term share price component, a 

distinction is made between annual tranches in relation to which the first fiscal year (one-year vesting 

period) of the three-year performance period has not yet passed, and annual tranches in relation to 

which the first fiscal year has already passed. In the latter case, the pro rata bonus is fully vested and 

calculated without applying the principle of pro rata temporis, whereupon it will be paid out once the 

three-year performance period has elapsed. If the first fiscal year (one-year vesting period) has not yet 

passed, the pro rata bonus is ascertained by applying the principle of pro rata temporis (ratio of the 

actual period of service attained during the one-year vesting period to the full relevant one-year 

vesting period), whereupon it will be paid out after the three-year performance period. 
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In addition, the respective Executive Board member will receive a severance payment amounting to 

the total remuneration agreed for the rest of the contractual term as a compensation for his 

premature departure from the Company. For calculating the corresponding bonus entitlement, an 

85 percent degree of target achievement is assumed in relation to the respective target amounts set 

for bonus entitlements that have not yet vested over the course of the current year or will accrue over 

a period of further years, as the case may be. The total remuneration for the remaining term is 

limited to a maximum of 2 full years of remuneration (severance payment cap). In calculating the cap 

on severance payment, reference is made to the Executive Board member’s respective total annual 

remuneration received during the two calendar years preceding the termination of the service 

agreement. 

If the Executive Board service agreement is unilaterally terminated without good cause or terminated 

by the Company for good cause, any and all outstanding, undisbursed annual tranches payable under 

the long-term share price component will be forfeited. Moreover, there is no entitlement to any 

severance payment in the event of the Company exercising its right of lawful extraordinary 

termination of the Executive Board member’s service agreement.

In the event of a change of control, the respective Executive Board member may opt for an early 

payment at target value of any outstanding, fully vested tranches under the share price component. 

This option shall apply regardless of whether or not the respective Executive Board member leaves 

the Company in connection with the change of control event. A change of control event is deemed to 

have occurred as soon as the Company is notified that a shareholder has reached or exceeded 

50 percent or 75 percent of the voting rights in the Company in accordance with s. 21 of the 

Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHG – German Securities Trading Act), an intercompany agreement is 

entered into with the Company as a dependent company in accordance with s. 291 ff. of the AktG, or 

absorption under s. 319 AktG or a change of legal form of the Company in accordance with the 

Umwandlungsgesetz (UmwG – German Reorganization Act) is resolved with legal effect. In the event 

of a change of control, the Executive Board members have no right to unilaterally terminate their 

respective service agreements.

Remuneration of the members of the Executive Board 

Total remunerations in 2015 and 2014
During the year under review, total remunerations paid to active Executive Board members of GEA 

Group Aktiengesellschaft amounted to EUR 6,374,980 and comprised both a fixed component of 

EUR 3,055,417 and a variable bonus of EUR 3,188,415. The bonus attributable to the long-term share 

price component is based on the fair value at grant date (January 1, 2015) and amounted to 

EUR 179,700 for Jürg Oleas, EUR 97,038 for Dr. Schmale, EUR 79,068 for Markus Hüllmann, and 

EUR 79,068 for Dr. Petri, a total of EUR 434,874 for the year under review.   

In the fiscal year 2014, the total remuneration paid to Executive Board members active in 2014 amounted 

to EUR 6,579,456 and comprised both a fixed component of EUR 3,025,000 and a variable bonus of 

EUR 3,415,286. The bonus accounted for by the long-term share price component was based on the fair 

value of the entitlement at grant date (January 1, 2014) and amounted to EUR 215,275 for Jürg Oleas, 

EUR 116,249 for Dr. Helmut Schmale, EUR 94,721 for Markus Hüllmann, as well as EUR 94,721 for 

Dr. Stephan Petri, i.e. a total of EUR 520,966 in the fiscal year 2014. 
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The following table shows an individualized breakdown of fixed remuneration, variable components 

and other income:

(EUR)
Fixed

remuneration Variable components
Non-cash

benefits
Pension
subsidies Total

Individual 
component

Multi-year
component

Long-term share 
price component 1

Jürg Oleas 1,250,000 530,000 596,500 179,700 24,092 – 2,580,292

Previous year 1,250,000 648,500 549,500 215,275 24,244 – 2,687,519 

Dr. Helmut Schmale 693,750 294,150 331,057 97,038 44,052 6,788 1,466,835

Previous year 675,000 350,190 296,730 116,249 44,978 6,747 1,489,894 

Dr. Stephan Petri 561,667 238,147 268,027 79,068 26,173 6,788 1,179,870

Previous year 550,000 280,500 241,780 94,721 21,168 6,747 1,194,916

Markus Hüllmann 2 550,000 233,200 262,460 79,068 23,255 – 1,147,983

Previous year 550,000 285,340 241,780 94,721 35,286 – 1,207,127

Total 3,055,417 1,295,497 1,458,044 434,874 117,572 13,576 6,374,980

Previous year 3,025,000 1,564,530 1,329,790 520,966 125,676 13,494 6,579,456 

1)  During the year under review, no payment under the long-term share price component granted for 2015 was made, as this component is computed over a three-year period between 
2015 and 2017. The bonus payable under the long-term share price component is based on the fair value at grant date (January 1, 2015).

2) Due to his participation in the GEA Performance Share Plan 2012 during the period prior to his appointment to the Executive Board, Markus Hüllmann received an additional amount 
of EUR 84,288.

Supplemental disclosures relating to share-based remuneration for the period 2013 to 2015
In the fiscal years 2013 to 2015, share-based remuneration for the Executive Board was granted in the 

form of a long-term share price component. Detailed information on existing entitlements of Executive 

Board members under these remuneration components is outlined in the table below. 

Long-term share price component
(EUR)

Fair value as of
12/31/2015

Fair value as of
12/31/2014

Jürg Oleas 979,300 1,110,575

Dr. Helmut Schmale 528,822 596,289

Niels Graugaard 75,370 248,135

Dr. Stephan Petri 430,892 425,926

Markus Hüllmann 376,164 283,157

Total 2,390,548 2,664,082

Supplemental disclosures relating to share-based remuneration for 2011 
In the fiscal years 2010 and 2011, the members of the Executive Board received their share-based 

remuneration in the form of phantom shares. The remuneration system applicable until the end of 

the fiscal year 2011 provided for a performance-related remuneration component that was awarded as 

a bonus. Only half of this bonus was payable with the first salary payment following the date of the 

Company’s Supervisory Board meeting convened to adopt the financial statements for the relevant 

fiscal year (“short-term bonus”), while the second half of the bonus was converted into phantom 

shares in the Company whose payout amount was determined upon expiry of a holding period of 

three years (“long-term bonus”). Detailed information on the remuneration system applicable until 

the end of the fiscal year 2011 is provided in the 2011 Annual Report (see ibid. page 65 ff.) that may be 

accessed on the Company’s website (www.gea.com).

Detailed information on existing entitlements of Executive Board members from long-term bonuses 

awarded for the fiscal year 2011 may be inferred from the table below. The long-term bonuses awarded 

for the fiscal year 2011 were paid out during the year under review. 
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Phantom shares Number of awarded shares Fair value (in EUR)

2011 2015 2014

Jürg Oleas

2011 tranche (number of phantom shares in 2011) 40,997 - 1,570,185

Dr. Helmut Schmale

2011 tranche (number of phantom shares in 2011) 20,498 - 785,073

Total 61,495 - 2,355,258

In the fiscal year 2015, the expenditure for share-based remuneration (i.e. the sum total of the fair value of 

share-based remuneration awarded in the fiscal year in question as of balance sheet date and the change in 

fair value in relation to entitlements under share-based remuneration in the fiscal year in question) 

recognized in the consolidated IFRS financial statements amounted to EUR 236 thousand for Jürg Oleas 

(previous year: EUR 437 thousand), EUR 127 thousand for Dr. Schmale (previous year: EUR 233 thousand), 

EUR 0 thousand for Niels Graugaard (previous year: EUR 3 thousand), EUR 93 thousand for Dr. Petri 

(previous year: EUR 137 thousand) and EUR 93 thousand for Markus Hüllmann (previous year: EUR 132 

thousand). 

Further information on the awarded phantom shares and the long-term share price component is 

outlined in note 7.3.4 (see page 190 ff.] to the consolidated financial statements. 

Supplemental disclosures relating to recognized expenditure and paid out remuneration 
In the fiscal year 2015, expenditure in the aggregate amount of EUR 8,374,578 (previous year: 

EUR 8,189,727) was recognized for the members of the Executive Board. Besides expenditure for fixed 

and variable remuneration, this amount also comprises non-cash benefits, pension subsidies, 

additions to pension provisions (service and interest cost) as well as changes in the value of the 

entitlements to share-based remuneration that were recognized as interest expense. In the fiscal year 

2015, remuneration components totaling EUR 9,257,826 (previous year: EUR 7,992,205) were paid 

out. Apart from non-performance-related remuneration components, the amounts paid out also 

include disbursements of variable remuneration for the previous year: as well as amounts disbursed 

under multi-year variable remuneration components during the year under review.

(EUR) Recognized expenditure Paid out remuneration

Jürg Oleas 3,212,912 4,409,717

Previous year 3,424,448 3,115,316

Dr. Helmut Schmale 1,795,339 2,370,586

Previous year 1,884,471 1,783,620

Niels Graugaard 1 –307   172,434

Previous year –3,440 1,241,371

Dr. Stephan Petri 1,496,279 1,204,714

 Previous year 1,485,425 971,456

Markus Hüllmann 2  1,870,355 1,100,375

Previous year 1,398,823 880,442

Total 8,374,578 9,257,826

Previous year 8,189,727 7,992,205

1) Termination of service agreement in April 2013
2)  Due to his participation in the GEA Performance Share Plan 2012 during the period prior to his appointment as a member of the Executive Board, Markus Hüllmann received an additional 

amount of EUR 84,288 in the fiscal year 2015. 
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Executive Board remuneration in accordance with the GCGC model tables 
Model table 1 referring to section 4.2.5 para. 3 (1st bullet point) GCGC “Value of the benefits granted 

for the year under review”)

Benefits granted

Jürg Oleas Dr. Helmut Schmale

Chairman of the Executive Board Chief Financial Officer

2014 2015
Min. 

(2015)
Max.

(2015) 2  2014 2015
Min. 

(2015)
Max. 

(2015) 2

Fixed remuneration 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 675,000 693,750 693,750 693,750

Fringe benefits 24,244 24,092 24,092 24,092 44,978 44,052 44,052 44,052

Pension subsidies 0 0 0 0 6,747 6,788 6,788 6,788

Total non-performance-related components 1,274,244 1,274,092 1,274,092 1,274,092 726,725 744,590 744,590 744,590

One-year variable remuneration 500,000 500,000 0 1,000,000 270,000 277,500 0 555,000

Individual component 500,000 500,000 0 1,000,000 270,000 277,500 0 555,000

Multi-year variable remuneration 715,275 679,700 0 2,000,000 386,249 374,538 0 1,110,000

Multi-year component 500,000 500,000 0 1,250,000 270,000 277,500 0 693,750

Long-term share price component 
(tranche 2014) 1 215,275 0 0 0 116,249 0 0 0

Long-term share price component 
(Tranche 2015) 1 0 179,700 0 750,000 0 97,038 0 416,250

Total performance-related components 1,215,275 1,179,700 0 3,000,000 656,249 652,038 0 1,665,000

Service cost 363,741 451,059 451,059 451,059 166,152 208,255 208,255 208,255

Total remuneration (GCGC) 2,853,260 2,904,851 1,725,151 4,725,151 1,549,126 1,604,883 952,845 2,617,845

1) The bonus attributable to the long-term share price component is based on the fair value of the entitlement at grant date. Grant date for 2014 tranche was 01/01/2014, for the 2015 
tranche 01/01/2015. 

2) Not taking into account the possibility of granting a special discretionary bonus.

Benefits granted

Markus Hüllmann Dr. Stephan Petri

Member of the Executive Board Member of the Executive Board

2014 2015
Min. 

(2015)
Max.

(2015)2  2014 2015
Min. 

(2015)
Max. 

(2015)2

Fixed remuneration 550,000 550,000 550,000 550,000 550,000 561,667 561,667 561,667

Fringe benefits 35,286 23,255 23,255 23,255 21,168 26,173 26,173 26,173

Pension subsidies 0 0 0 0 6,747 6,788 6,788 6,788

Total non-performance-related components 585,286 573,255 573,255 573,255 577,915 594,628 594,628 594,628

One-year variable remuneration 220,000 220,000 0 440,000 220,000 224,667 0 449,334

Individual component 220,000 220,000 0 440,000 220,000 224,667 0 449,334

Multi-year variable remuneration 314,721 299,068 0 880,000 314,721 303,735 0 898,667

Multi-year component 220,000 220,000 0 550,000 220,000 224,667 0 561,667

Long-term share price component 
(tranche 2014) 1 94,721 0 0 0 94,721 0 0 0

Long-term share price component 
(Tranche 2015) 1 0 79,068 0 330,000 0 79,068 0 337,000

Total performance-related components 534,721 519,068 0 1,320,000 534,721 528,402 0 1,348,001

Service cost 94,387 651,870 651,870 651,870 178,410 237,355 237,355 237,355

Total remuneration (GCGC) 1,214,394 1,744,193 1,225,125 2,545,125 1,291,046 1,360,385 831,983 2,179,984

1) The bonus attributable to the long-term share price component is based on the fair value of the entitlement at grant date. Grant date for 2014 tranche was 01/01/2014, for the 2015 
tranche 01/01/2015. 

2) Not taking into account the possibility of granting a special discretionary bonus.
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Model table 2 referring to section 4.2.5 para. 3 (2nd bullet point) GCGC “Allocation for the year under 

review”

Allocation

Jürg Oleas Dr. Helmut Schmale

Chairman of the Executive Board Chief Financial Officer

2014  2015  2014 2015

Fixed remuneration 1,250,000 1,250,000 675,000 693,750

Fringe benefits 24,244 24,092 44,978 44,052

Pension subsidies 0 0 6,747 6,788

Total non-performance-related components 1,274,244 1,274,092 726,725 744,590

One-year variable remuneration 648,500 530,000 350,190 294,150

Individual component 648,500 530,000 350,190 294,150

Multi-year variable remuneration 1,496,160 2,534,125 870,643 1,310,133

Multi-year component 549,500 596,500 296,730 331,057

Long-term share price component 
(tranche 2012) 0 342,100 0 181,313

Phantom shares (tranche 2010) 946,660 0 573,913 0

Phantom shares (tranche 2011) 0 1,595,525 0 797,763

Total performance-related components 2,144,660 3,064,125 1,220,833 1,604,283

Service cost 363,741 451,059 166,152 208,255

Total remuneration (GCGC) 3,782,645 4,789,277 2,113,710 2,557,128

Allocation

Markus Hüllmann Dr. Stephan Petri

Member of the Executive Board Member of the Executive Board

2014  2015  2014 2015

Fixed remuneration 550,000 550,000 550,000 561,667

Fringe benefits 35,286 23,255 21,168 26,173

Pension subsidies 0 0 6,747 6,788

Total non-performance-related components 585,286 573,255 577,915 594,628

One-year variable remuneration 285,340 233,200 280,500 238,147

Individual component 285,340 233,200 280,500 238,147

Multi-year variable remuneration 241,780 262,460 241,780 355,833

Multi-year component 241,780 262,460 241,780 268,027

Long-term share price component 
(tranche 2012) 0 0 0 87,806

Phantom shares (tranche 2010) 0 0 0 0

Phantom shares (tranche 2011) 0 0 0 0

Total performance-related components 527,120 495,660 522,280 593,980

Service cost 94,387 651,870 178,410 237,355

Total remuneration (GCGC) 1,206,793 1,720,785 1,278,605 1,425,962
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Allocation

Niels Graugaard

Member of the Executive Board

Until 04/18/2013

2014 2015

Fixed remuneration 0 0

Fringe benefits 0 0

Pension subsidies 0 0

Total non-performance-related components 0 0

One-year variable remuneration 0 0

Individual component 0 0

Multi-year variable remuneration 1,241,371 172,434

Multi-year component 0 0

Long-term share price component 
(tranche 2012) 0 172,434

Phantom shares (tranche 2010) 540,385 0

Phantom shares (tranche 2011) * 700,986 0

Total performance-related components 1,241,371 172,434

Service cost 0 0

Total remuneration (GCGC) 1,241,371 172,434

*) Due to the service agreement concluded with Niels Graugaard being terminated in April 2013, the holding period for phantom shares under the 2011 long-term bonus decreased  to one 
year  as of termination date in accordance with the contractual provisions. For this reason, the bonus was paid out as early as 2014.  

Remuneration of former Executive Board members and their surviving dependents 

In the fiscal year 2015, former members of the Executive Board and their surviving dependents 

received remunerations in the amount of EUR 4,992 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,168 thousand) 

from GEA Group. As of December 31, 2015, GEA Group had set up pension provisions totaling 

EUR 62,458 thousand (previous year: EUR 64,494 thousand) for former Executive Board members 

and their surviving dependents.

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board members 

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board members comprises solely a fixed compensation. It does 

not include any performance-related component. 

During the year under review, the expenses incurred for the Supervisory Board amounted to EUR 1,168 

thousand (previous year: EUR 1,159 thousand). Under s. 15 para. 1 of the Articles of Association, each 

member of the Supervisory Board receives a fixed annual fee of EUR 50 thousand payable after the end 

of each fiscal year, in addition to the reimbursement of their expenses. The Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board receives two and a half times, his deputy one and a half times this amount. In accordance with s. 

15 para. 2 of the Articles of Association, members of the Presiding Committee and the Audit Committee 

each receive an additional EUR 35 thousand. The chairman of each of these committees receives twice 

this amount. No separate remuneration is paid to members of the Mediation Committee and the 

Nomination Committee. Members who join or leave the Supervisory Board or its Committees during 

the year only receive a pro rata amount for the period of their membership. Under s. 15 para. 3 of the 

Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board members also receive an attendance fee of EUR 1 thousand 

for each meeting of the Supervisory Board, the Presiding Committee and the Audit Committee that they 

have attended after the end of the year under review. In the fiscal year 2015, the Supervisory Board held 

seven meetings, the Presiding Committee met on six and the Audit Committee was convened on five 

occasions. 
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The following table shows the individual remuneration and its respective components for members 

of the Supervisory Board, the Presiding Committee and the Audit Committee for 2015 compared with 

the previous year:

(in EUR)

Supervisory 
Board 

remuneration

Presiding 
Commitee 

remuneration
Audit Commitee 

remuneration
Attendance

fees Total

Dr. Heraeus 125,000 70,000 35,000 17,000 247,000

Previous year 125,000 70,000 35,000 14,000 244,000

Siegers * 75,000 35,000 – 9,000 119,000

Previous year 75,000 35,000 – 11,000 121,000

Bastaki 50,000 – – 7,000 57,000

Previous year 50,000 – – 6,000 56,000

Prof. Dr. Bauer 50,000 – – 6,000 56,000

Previous year 50,000 – – 7,000 57,000

Eberlein 50,000 – 70,000 12,000 132,000

Previous year 50,000 – 70,000 12,000 132,000

Gröbel * 50,000 35,000 – 13,000 98,000

Previous year 50,000 35,000 – 11,000 96,000

Hunger * (until October 31, 2014) – – – – –

Previous year 41,467 – 29,167 11,000 81,834

Kämpfert 50,000 – – 6,000 56,000

Previous year 50,000 – – 6,000 56,000

Kerkemeier * 50,000 – – 6,000 56,000

Previous year 50,000 – – 7,000 57,000

Krönchen * (since November 5, 2014) 50,000 – 35,000 12,000 97,000

Previous year 7,808 – – 1,000 8,808

Löw * 50,000 – 35,000 12,000 97,000

Previous year 50,000 – 35,000 13,000 98,000

Dr. Perlet 50,000 35,000 – 11,000 96,000

Previous year 50,000 35,000 – 11,000 96,000

Spence 50,000 – – 7,000 57,000

Previous year 50,000 – – 5,000 55,000

Total 700,000 175,000 175,000 118,000 1,168,000 

Previous year 699,475 175,000 169,167 115,000 1,158,642

*) The employee representatives from the Works Council and the Union remit their respective remuneration to the Hans Böckler Foundation in accordance the applicable guidelines. 
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Report on Risks and Opportunities

Risk and opportunity management targets

GEA’s ability to leverage its growth and earnings potential depends on it using the opportunities that 

arise, although this in turn is associated as a matter of principle with business risks. Taking calculated 

risks is therefore part of GEA’s corporate strategy. To meet the objective of sustainably increasing 

enterprise value, it is necessary, as far as possible, to enter into only those risks that are calculable and 

matched by greater opportunities. This requires active risk and opportunity management, which avoids 

inappropriate risks, monitors and manages risks entered into, and ensures that opportunities are 

identified and utilized in good time.

GEA’s strategic and medium-term planning are key components of the way in which it manages 

opportunities and risks. These processes are used to prepare decisions on core technologies and 

markets, along with the corresponding allocation of resources. The objective is to ensure stability by 

diversifying and by concentrating on markets of the future. At the same time, developments that may 

jeopardize GEA’s continuing existence can be identified at an early stage.

Opportunities and risks arising from significant operating decisions – for example whether to take 

on orders or to implement capital expenditure projects – are assessed and hence actively managed by 

the relevant departments and decision-makers at all group levels in a decision-making process that 

takes materiality criteria into account.

Overall assessment of the risk position and changes compared with 
the previous year 

The identified risks from operating activities and the negative impact on earnings that could result 

have changed only immaterially as against the previous year. As in previous years, the structure of 

GEA with its regional and industry diversification offers protection to a large extent against 

individual risks clustering into a single risk that could threaten the group’s continued existence as a 

going concern. In addition, GEA Group is not dependent on individual business partners, be they 

either suppliers or customers.

Risks in connection with discontinued operations were reduced thanks to further progress in 

completing the Lentjes projects. The sale of the GEA Heat Exchangers segment resulted in risks in the 

form of financial obligations towards the purchaser.

Overall, no risks to GEA or GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft were identified that, alone or in 

combination with other risks, could endanger the Company’s continued existence as a going concern.
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Risk and opportunity management system

Risk management system 

All group companies are integrated into GEA’s risk management system. Quarterly risk reports and 

size-related ad hoc risk reports aim to ensure that decision-makers at all levels are informed promptly 

about material existing risks and potential risks affecting future development.

The fundamental principles and procedures underpinning an effective risk management system are 

set out in risk guidelines that apply to the entire group. These guidelines also document mandatory 

risk reporting and management requirements. Compliance with these requirements is monitored 

regularly by the Internal Audit function.

Risk management instruments such as the Risk Assessment and Advisory Committees (RAACs) are 

supplemented by a reporting system encompassing evaluated risk reports, consolidated financial 

projections, monthly consolidated financial statements, and regular meetings of the Global 

Leadership Team (consisting of members of the Executive Board and heads of the Business Areas, the 

regions, and the Global Corporate Center) enable the various risks to be identified and analyzed.

Business Area
Equipment

Regions & Country Organizations/Companies

Business Area
Solutions

Supervisory 
Board

Executive Board

Risk management organization

Audit Committee

Global 
Corporate 

Center

Shared
Service
 Center

Risk Board

Internal
Audit

GLT *

*)  Global Leadership Team

GEA’s risk management system is based on the management hierarchy. Risks are reported to the next 

highest management level using predefined thresholds.

The specific requirements of the group’s project business are addressed by risk boards at Business 

Area and group management level. Before a binding quotation is submitted or an agreement signed, 

the commercial and contractual terms of potential orders are examined in detail by specialists from 

various departments so that risks that cannot be controlled are avoided. The risk management system 
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therefore already comes into play before risks arise, in the form of a critical examination of the 

opportunity and risk profile of quotations. No agreement may be signed if the profile is 

inappropriate. 

The risk management system not only serves the statutory purpose of identifying existential risks as 

early as possible, it also covers all risks that might have a material impact on the financial position 

and results of operations of a Business Area or of the group as a whole.

Additional modules were added to GEA Group’s risk management system in order to systematically 

capture risks and opportunities not covered by the existing systems; these make it possible to assess 

risk on a holistic basis.

Information is gathered and consolidated across all organizational units via the iterative processes of 

a group-wide “Risk & Chance Scorecard”. First introduced in 2014, the scorecard will be repeated once 

the new organization has been fully implemented. To identify risks that could endanger the 

continued existence of GEA as a going concern, all issues are assessed for their financial materiality 

(on a gross basis, i.e. excluding any risk-mitigating measures) and their probability of occurrence. In 

addition, the timing (less than or more than one year) of each risk is individually assessed.

The following criteria are used to determine materiality:

Opportunities and risks

Low  
Middle 
High

Insignificant

Moderate

Considerable

L

L

M

L

M

H

M

H

H

Probability

< 40% 40 - 60% > 60%

Moderate Impact on financial and earnings position between EUR 2.5 - 10 million

Considerable Impact on financial and earnings position > EUR 10 million  

This makes it possible to classify both risks and opportunities in accordance with their impact on 

GEA. Issues with short-term relevance that have a high (“H”) materiality and probability rating are 

initially classified as a significant risk or significant opportunity.

In addition, the GEA Demand Index (GDI) is used to collate estimates by GEA Group’s market experts 

of expected short- to medium-term market developments. The GDI makes it possible to obtain an 

early indication of positive or negative market developments in the industries and regions that are 

relevant for GEA.

The data gathered using the Risk & Chance Scorecard and the GDI is processed along with other 

internal and external information in a scenario and sensitivity analysis, which simulates the potential 

impact on the group’s liquidity (see page 94). 

Adequate provisions have been recognized for all identifiable risks arising from the group’s operating 

activities provided that the recognition criteria for liabilities have been met. The following section 
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provides details of existing risks. Risks that are not yet known or currently regarded as insignificant 

may also have an adverse effect on business activities.

Internal control system 

GEA’s internal control system (ICS) is based on the COSO framework and comprises the risk 

management system (RMS) as well as other principles, measures, and rules (other components of the 

ICS). While the RMS aims at identifying and classifying risks, the components comprising the rest of 

the ICS serve primarily to prevent or mitigate risk using control measures. The Internal Audit 

function is another component of the ICS.

The RMS comprises principles, measures, and rules relating to the early risk recognition system in 

accordance with section 91(2) of the Aktiengesetz (AktG – German Stock Corporation Act), as well as 

those relating to other components of the risk management system. In the other components of the 

ICS, a distinction is made between principles, measures, and rules that are related or unrelated to 

financial reporting.

GEA’s ICS relevant for financial reporting encompasses all principles, measures, and rules that ensure 

the proper approval and recording of business transactions for monthly, quarterly, and annual 

financial statements. The goal of the implemented ICS is to ensure reliable financial reporting, 

compliance with the relevant laws and standards, and the cost-effectiveness of business workflows.

In addition to GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft, all group companies are integrated into the ICS. 

The following key principles of GEA’s ICS must be applied in all business functions: clearly defined 

areas of responsibility, the separation of functions in all areas of activity, dual signature policies, 

compliance with guidelines, instructions, and procedural requirements (manuals), the obligation to 

obtain comparative offers before awarding contracts, protection of data from unauthorized access, 

and the holding of training sessions to ensure uniform procedures within the group.

Key measures and rules that are relevant for financial reporting and are designed to ensure uniform 

accounting at all subsidiaries are: accounting and account allocation manuals, a uniform chart of 

accounts, consolidation and calculation manuals, the approval of entries using the dual control 

principle, and the fact that certain entries can only be made by selected persons. To prevent errors, 

standardized IT systems are used in GEA’s accounting, financial control, and finance functions in all 

group companies. All guidelines and IT systems are updated on a continuous basis to reflect legal and 

business requirements.

Compliance with the principles, measures, and rules set out in the ICS as described above is 

monitored systematically; this takes the form of regular reviews by GEA’s Internal Audit function, 

which reports directly to the Executive Board and regularly submits reports to the Audit Committee. 

The results enable the elimination of defects identified at the companies reviewed and the ongoing 

enhancement of the ICS in the group.

Overall, the ICS aims to ensure the early identification, assessment, and management of those risks 

and opportunities that could materially influence the Company’s ability to achieve its strategic, 

operating, financial, and compliance-related objectives.

Combined Group Management Report / Report on Risks and Opportunities



90 GEA Annual Report 2015

Legal risks 
Legal risks are not quantified in detail since disclosing the specific probability of occurrence could 

have a material effect on the group’s position in current litigation or other legal disputes.

Dörries Scharmann AG insolvency proceedings
An action brought by the insolvency administrator of Dörries Scharmann AG against GEA Group 

Aktiengesellschaft is pending at the Düsseldorf Regional Court. The former Metallgesellschaft AG, 

the legal predecessor to GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft, held an interest in Schiess AG, which later 

became Dörries Scharmann AG. On the basis of that interest, the insolvency administrator is 

asserting various claims under company law, in particular for equity substitution, which amount to 

approximately EUR 18 million plus possible interest. GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft considers the 

asserted claims to be unfounded and will continue to defend itself against all such demands.

General
Further claims or official investigations have been or may be instituted against GEA companies as a 

result of earlier business disposals and operating activities.

Adequate provisions have been recognized for all risks arising from both the legal disputes described 

above and other legal disputes being pursued by GEA in the course of its ordinary operating 

activities. However, the outcome of these proceedings cannot be predicted with any degree of 

certainty. It is therefore possible that the conclusion of the proceedings may result in income or 

expenses if the amounts that have been set aside for them are higher or lower than required.

Performance risks 
The performance risks presented below can take a wide variety of forms. The elements of the GEA 

risk management system are designed to help identify emerging risks before they materialize, so that 

appropriate measures can be implemented on a case-by-case basis to avoid negative effects on the 

group’s financial position and results of operations. As a rule, potential business performance risks 

are minimized by avoiding significant dependencies and ensuring a balanced mix of fixed and 

flexible capacities.

GEA’s sales markets have a diverse product and customer structure. This diversification moderates 

the impact on total demand of fluctuations in demand in specific submarkets. However, the food 

industry is the main focus of the business. A significant decline in demand for food and beverages 

would have a material impact on GEA’s financial position and results of operations. GEA considers 

the probability of a global decline in demand to be low. This risk is rated as medium overall.

A significant proportion of GEA’s business consists of projects that depend on the financing available 

to GEA’s customers. A general decline in demand, shifts in currency parities, or a credit squeeze could 

make it more difficult to implement such projects. For the same reason, existing orders could be 

deferred or even canceled. If such risks were to occur on a global level, they would have a material 
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impact on GEA’s financial position and results of operations. The probability of such risks occurring 

globally is considered to be low. This risk is classified as medium overall due to GEA’s diversified 

positioning in particular.

Country-specific conflict situations that could give rise to risks for the group are continually observed 

as part of risk management. However, the potential risks arising from such situations are difficult to 

quantify. However, no material impact on the group’s results of operations is anticipated. This risk is 

rated as medium overall.

On the sales side, future prices will depend to a considerable extent on general economic trends. Any 

fall in capacity utilization in the industry could also have a significant negative impact on price levels 

and therefore on the financial position and results of operations of GEA. Thanks to the group’s 

regional and industrial diversification, the probability of such a risk is considered to be low. This 

issue is rated as a medium risk overall.

GEA processes a number of materials, such as stainless steel, especially as part of processed products. 

Purchase prices for these metals may fluctuate significantly depending on market conditions. Long-

term supply agreements are entered into with selected suppliers in order to lock in the procurement 

prices used as the basis for costing orders. However, the potential risks arising from such situations 

are difficult to quantify. With respect to procurement, current expectations are that prices for key 

materials will not increase. The risk is rated as medium overall.

Long-term engineering orders are a significant element of GEA’s business. Some of these contracts 

entail particular risks, as they involve assuming a significant portion of the risk associated with the 

project’s completion. In addition, they may provide for warranty obligations that remain in force for 

several years after the project’s acceptance. Technical problems, quality problems at subcontractors, 

and missed deadlines may lead to cost overruns. There is therefore an extensive risk management 

system in place at group management and Business Area level to closely monitor order-related risks. 

This comes into play before binding quotations are submitted. Adequate provisions have been 

recognized for all foreseeable risks in this area. This could give rise to both risks and opportunities in 

relation to the financial position and results of operations. As a whole, these issues are rated as a 

medium risk.

GEA’s business processes are highly dependent on information technology. The failure or malfunction of 

critical systems could result in risks relating to confidentiality, availability, and integrity, and key 

business processes could be compromised. GEA protects its IT systems against unauthorized access 

to the extent that this is economically feasible. The relevant security systems are updated on an 

ongoing basis. This issue is classified as a medium risk overall.  

Furthermore, macroeconomic trends are deemed to pose a risk to the Company. If a downturn in the 

economy leads to a reduction in order intake to below the level of the previous fiscal year, this could 

have a negative impact on earnings due to capacity underutilization and capacity adjustment 

measures. Thanks to the group’s regional and industry diversification, and the fact that it is 
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structured for flexibility, the probability of this significant risk occurring is considered to be low. This 

issue is classified as a medium risk overall.

As contractually agreed, defined risks relating to selected orders remained with the group following 

the sale of the former Lentjes division. The remaining risks are rated as low overall.

The sale of the GEA Heat Exchangers segment resulted in risks in the form of financial obligations 

towards the purchaser. These relate to contractual warranties and indemnifications, as well as risk 

sharing for major projects. This issue is assessed as a medium risk overall, with a low probability of 

occurrence.

Dedicated and qualified employees are a critical success factor for GEA. GEA has various staff policy 

measures in place to counter the risk that it will be unable to fill vacant positions adequately or that it 

will lose skilled employees. The measures aim to position GEA as an attractive employer and foster 

employees’ long-term loyalty to the group (see page 54 f.). The probability of this significant risk 

occurring is considered to be low. This issue is rated as a medium risk overall.

Acquisition and integration risks
Acquisitions and internal company reorganizations entail risks resulting from the integration of 

employees, processes, technologies, and products. It is possible, therefore, that the aims of the 

measures in question will not be achieved at all or within the timeframe envisaged. Moreover, such 

transactions may give rise to substantial administrative and other expenses. Portfolio measures may 

also result in the need for additional finance and may impact negatively on financing requirements 

and the financing structure. These risks are countered by a structured integration concept and close 

supervision by internal experts, as well as specific training measures. This issue is rated as a medium 

risk overall.

Environmental risk
Several properties in our portfolio entail risks relating to historic environmental contamination and 

mining damage, primarily as a result of earlier business activities. These risks are countered through 

appropriate measures and supervision by internal and external specialists. Adequate provisions were 

recognized for the measures in 2015. This could give rise to both risks and opportunities in relation to 

the financial position and results of operations. Their probability is regarded as medium and their 

materiality as moderate.

Financial risks

Principles of financial risk management
The Executive Board has put in place an effective set of guidelines to monitor and thus largely limit 

or hedge financial risks throughout the group. The objectives with regard to protecting assets, 

eliminating gaps in security, and improving efficiency in identifying and analyzing risks are clearly 

defined, as well as the relevant organizational structures, powers, and responsibilities. The guidelines 

are based on the principles of system security, the separation of functions, transparency, and 

immediate documentation.

GEA is exposed to currency, interest rate, commodity price, credit, and liquidity risk in the course of 

its ordinary activities because it operates worldwide. Financial risk management aims to reduce this 
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risks through the appropriate use of derivative and non-derivative hedging instruments. The group’s 

financial risks are quantified in section 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements (see 

pages 152 ff.).

Based on a gross assessment, the financial risks described below are considered in principle to be 

both considerable and probable for GEA. These risks are therefore rated as high overall.

Currency risk
Because GEA operates internationally, its cash flows are denominated not only in euros, but also in a 

number of other currencies, particularly U.S. dollars. Hedging the resulting currency risk is a key 

element of risk management.

The uniform group guidelines for central currency management used within GEA require all group 

companies to hedge foreign currency items as they arise in order to fix prices on the basis of hedging 

rates. Currency risks are hedged for recognized hedged items, unrecognized firm commitments, and 

highly probable forecast transactions. The hedging periods are determined by the maturity of the 

hedged items and are usually up to 12 months, but in exceptional cases may exceed that period 

significantly. Nevertheless, changes in exchange rates may affect sales opportunities outside the 

eurozone.

Affiliated group companies based in the eurozone are obliged to tender to GEA’s central Treasury and 

Corporate Finance unit all outstanding exposures relating to transactions in goods and services in 

major transaction currencies. Most of these exposures are passed on directly to banks at matching 

maturities, depending on the hedging objective of the derivatives and the related accounting 

treatment. They may also be hedged as part of a portfolio. The hedging of financial transactions and 

transactions conducted by subsidiaries outside the eurozone is also closely coordinated with the 

central Treasury and Corporate Finance unit.

Interest rate risk
Because GEA operates worldwide, liquidity is raised and invested in the international money and 

capital markets in different currencies (but mainly in euros) and at different maturities. The resulting 

financial liabilities and investments are exposed to interest rate risk, which must be assessed and 

managed by central interest rate management. Derivative financial instruments may be used on a 

case-by-case basis to hedge interest rate risk and reduce the interest rate volatility and financing costs 

of the hedged items. Only the central Treasury and Corporate Finance unit is permitted to enter into 

such interest rate hedges.

Credit risk
Financial instruments are exposed to credit risk in that the other party to the contract may fail to 

fulfill its obligations. The counterparty limit system used by GEA’s central Treasury and Corporate 

Finance unit aims to continuously assess and manage counterparty default risk. A maximum risk 

limit has been defined for each counterparty, which in most cases is derived from the ratings from 

recognized credit rating agencies and credit default swaps (CDSs). Appropriate action is taken if the 

individual limit is exceeded.
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The financial standing of potential customers is ascertained via an internal risk board procedure 

before orders are accepted. Active receivables management, including nonrecourse factoring, 

nonrecourse financing, and credit insurance, is also performed. In the case of export transactions, 

confirmed and unconfirmed letters of credit are used alongside sureties, guarantees, and cover notes, 

including from export credit agencies such as Euler Hermes. An addition to local monitoring by the 

subsidiary, GEA oversees the main credit risks at group management level so that any accumulation 

of risk can be better managed. 

Since trade receivables are usually due from a large number of customers in different sectors and 

regions, there is no concentration of risk. Valuation allowances take account of specific credit risks. 

So as to reduce the credit risk involved, derivative financial instruments are only entered into with 

reputable financial institutions whose creditworthiness has been classified as reliable and is 

continuously monitored under the counterparty limit system described above. 

The maximum exposure for the financial assets is limited to their carrying amount.

Liquidity risk
GEA is exposed to liquidity risk in that it may be unable to meet payment obligations because it has 

insufficient cash funds at its disposal. The central Treasury and Corporate Finance unit is responsible 

for managing this risk. Cash funds are arranged and credit lines managed on the basis of a multi-year 

financial plan and a rolling month-by-month cash forecast. The funds are then made available to the 

companies by group management. Cash pools have been established in a growing number of 

countries in order to optimize the use of cash funds and borrowing within GEA. To mitigate liquidity 

risk, GEA will continue to use various financing instruments in the future so as to diversify its 

sources of funding and stagger maturities. 

The impact of potential risk scenarios on changes in liquidity is also simulated. All internal risk 

management information and internal and external information on potential market and other 

external risks is taken into account. On the basis of this, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board 

have agreed strict rules regarding the level of cash and long-term credit lines to be held to cover 

potential liquidity risk.

Tax risks 

The applicable national tax legislation may affect the use of loss carryforwards and thus the 

recoverability of the deferred taxes recognized in the consolidated financial statements and current 

taxation. Furthermore, future changes to the ownership structure could significantly reduce or even 

render impossible the use of German loss carryforwards (section 8c of the Körperschaftsteuergesetz 

(KStG – German Corporate Income Tax Act)). The ability to use U.S. loss carryforwards could also be 

restricted in the case of certain changes to the ownership structure of GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft 

under IRC section 382 (limitation on net operating loss carryforwards following an ownership change). 
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Moreover, in Germany and abroad, there is considerable uncertainty regarding future changes to, and 

the application of, tax legislation as a result of tighter public sector finances, the resulting pressure 

for reform, and tangibly greater scrutiny by the tax authorities.

The tax risks presented could have a material effect on GEA’s financial position and results of 

operations. The occurrence of material negative effects is considered to be relatively unlikely. 

Opportunities

Overall assessment of opportunities and changes compared  
with the previous year 

GEA’s end markets offer a variety of opportunities for positive business performance over the long 

term. A key task of the opportunity and risk management system is to systematically evaluate both 

internal and external information in order to identify opportunities at an early stage and appropriately 

assess the potential they offer (see page 87 f.). Specific measures are then developed to enable us to 

convert opportunities into actual economic success. 

The identified opportunities from operating activities and the additional positive impact on earnings 

that could result have not changed significantly as against the previous year.

Planning of the group’s economic development is based on certain assumptions regarding the 

development of the performance parameters described below. If these parameters develop more 

positively than expected overall, this could have a corresponding effect on GEA’s financial position 

and results of operations.

Performance opportunities

GEA is entering fiscal year 2016 with an unchanged high order backlog. Further growth is expected in 

the more rapidly expanding Asian markets in the medium term. GEA will further expand its presence 

in these regions and thus participate in the growth of these markets. 

If the expected moderate growth in the global economy materializes, GEA’s continued focus on the 

food end market will allow it benefit more than average, especially in growth markets. 

In the area of food process technology, GEA’s growth will be driven not only by an increase in the 

standard of living and the trend toward high-quality foods, but also by the expected rise in 

production and quality standards as well as innovative process improvements and new product 

developments.

GEA’s new structure has been in place since June 8, 2015. The Group now boasts much flatter 

hierarchies and is also much closer to its local customers thanks to the uniformity of its national 

organizations. This more prominent positioning of the portfolio as a whole coupled with intensified 

service business will promote additional profitable growth while nurturing customer loyalty. This 

will continue to further strengthen and expand the sustainable competitiveness of GEA until 2020 

and beyond. The savings of at least EUR 125 million expected to be made from the “Fit for 2020” 

program as from 2017 do not, however, take into account the potential for generating greater revenue 

through the new, much more uniform lines of contact with our customers. In addition, the new 

structure is likely to furnish much greater cross-selling opportunities as a basis for increasing sales 

among existing customers while tapping into new customer groups.  
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The former, relatively decentralized Group structure featuring segmentation by technology meant 

that procurement was also organized on a highly individual basis. The new structure, in which the 

development and manufacturing of products and the provision of process solutions have been 

bundled in two new business areas, will give rise to optimization potential in the future. The 

Company sees opportunities especially in the harmonization of material categories, the clustering of 

suppliers, and through the expansion of centrally coordinated purchasing processes. 

GEA sees further potential in the structure of its present global production network. Here too, the 

previous decentralized approach served to optimize production capacities in the individual segments. 

Thanks to the new group structure, it will now be possible to centralize the management and control 

of capital expenditure to a greater degree than before, and this could give rise to additional, 

significant savings. 

GEA’s in-depth understanding of its customers’ production processes is a cornerstone of its success. 

Increasing scarcity of resources means that ever more efficient use needs to be made of raw materials 

and energy. In addition, end consumers’ rising demands require the implementation of higher quality 

standards in production processes. Growing awareness of the environment means we must meet 

more stringent standards on CO2 emissions, for example. This creates additional opportunities for 

GEA by focusing on research and development activities on environmentally friendly technologies 

and production processes and thus offer specialist solutions. 

The acquisition in 2015 of Comas (see page 37) saw GEA enter the pastries market. The creation of an 

“Application Center Bakery” in the new structure underscores the Company’s increasing focus on this 

area of industry. Further acquisitions (see page 63) could see GEA expand its competence portfolio, as 

in this case, and thus achieve market leadership in new fields of activity. As the group’s acquisition 

strategy is clearly focused on sophisticated process technology for the food industry, these 

acquisitions may well bring about a further increase in group profitability.

GEA considers the probability of the performance opportunities exceeding the planning assumptions 

and therefore having a material positive impact on net assets, financial position, and results of 

operations to be medium overall.
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Report on Expected Developments

GEA’s Report on Expected Developments takes into account relevant facts and events that were 

known at the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements and that could influence 

the future development of its business.

Economic environment in 2016

Global economy

As described in the section on the macroeconomic environment in the report on the economic 

position (see page 35 f.), GEA, as a global engineering company, considers global growth in gross 

domestic product (GDP) and the corresponding IMF forecasts to be key benchmarks for its own 

performance. 

In the January 2016 update to its World Economic Outlook, the IMF once again downscaled its forecast 

for global economic growth in 2016 against its October 2015 estimates. According to the forecast, the 

global economy is set to grow by 3.4 percent in 2016. In the following year, the global economy is again 

expected to pick up slightly, achieving a growth rate of 3.6 percent. The forecast growth rates for 2016 

and 2017 are both 0.2 percentage points below the figures published last October.

According to the IMF experts, the biggest risks are currently slowing growth in China, tighter US 

monetary policies coupled with a strong dollar, and the possible aggravation of current geopolitical 

tensions.

Growth in the industrialized nations
The IMF is predicting stable growth of 2.1 percent for the industrialized nations in 2016 and 2017. As 

regards both Germany and the eurozone economy as a whole, the IMF is looking at growth of 1.7 

percent for this year and 2017. 

Since the original October forecast, the IMF has reduced its estimates for the US economy by 0.2 

percentage points twice. With the strength of the dollar posing a major challenge to the US economy, 

the IMF is now predicting annual growth of 2.6 percent for 2016 and 2017. 

Growth in the emerging markets
By predicting economic growth of 4.3 percent in 2016 and 4.7 percent in 2017 for the emerging 

markets and the industrialized nations, the IWF has reduced its original October estimate by 0.2 

percentage points on two occasions. 

With regard to the Chinese economy, the IWF is anticipating a decline in growth from 6.9 percent in 

2015 to 6.3 percent in 2016 and down to 6.0 percent in 2017. This is in line with previous expectations.

As far as the Russian economy goes, the IMF is predicting negative growth of –1.0 percent in 2016 but 

a recovery to 1.0 percent in 2017. Thus, the IMF has significantly adjusted its forecast for the Russian 

economy in 2016 (down 0.4 percentage points compared with the fall forecast). The forecast for the 

Russian economy in 2017 remained unchanged. 
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Growth in the Latin American countries is also expected to stall in 2016, the IMF expecting these 

economies to contract to –0.3 percent, a further 1.1 percentage points down on the October 2015 

figure. Even if economic growth in Latin America recovers to 1.6 percent in 2017, the latest estimates 

are still well below those of October 2015.

Growth in the customer industries 

The following trends are expected for GEA’s key applications (based on external studies): 

Food

The consumption of packaged food will continue to grow at a moderate rate driven by slight increases in 

consumption in the Asia Pacific region, as well as in the Middle East and Africa. It is also expected 

that the consumption of bakery goods will increase too. 

Dairy Farming

Milk prices are set to remain volatile in 2016 with no prospect of recovery until the middle of the 

year; as such, the financial situation of dairy farmers is unlikely to improve until that time, at the 

earliest. As a result, a significant increase in the investment appetite of the northern hemisphere 

markets (USA/EU), which are especially relevant to GEA – is not expected to materialize before 2017. 

In the medium to long term, however, the situation in the global dairy market is expected to improve 

due to increases in the consumption of dairy products.

Dairy Processing

Global milk consumption is set to increase slightly over the next few years, a trend driven by 

increasing demand for dairy products in Europe and in North and South America. As before, growth 

will be strongest in the Asia Pacific region, albeit at a lower level than in the past. In global terms, 

especially the consumption of yogurt and fermented dairy products is set to increase. 

Beverages

Global beverage consumption is set to grow faster over the next few years than in the previous three. 

The coming years are expected to see a moderate increase in the consumption of both alcoholic 

beverages and soft drinks. While growth in demand for soft drinks in Asia is not expected to be quite 

as vibrant as it has been in recent years, demand in Eastern Europe in particular is expected to increase 

in the next few years. Moreover, demand for juices and carbonated soft drinks – an important market 

for GEA – is expected to increase more strongly in the future than in the last three years.

Pharma

Spending on medicinal products will continue to rise, with growth rates in this market increasing 

again as compared with the years 2012 to 2015. The main reason for the marked rise is increased drug 

spending in the so-called pharmerging markets (e.g. China, Brazil, Russia, Turkey and India), as well 

as in Germany, France, UK, Italy and Spain. All told, it can be assumed, therefore, that investment 

outlay in the pharma industry will continue to rise.
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Chemical

The manufacture of petrochemical products is set to increase further in the coming years, exceeding 

the growth rates of the last three years and giving rise to the predicted further increase in investment 

activity. The main driver of this upward trend has been increases in production in both China and the 

Gulf States.

Economic environment for GEA

GEA’s planning for the current 2016 fiscal year assumes that demand in its sales markets will be 

moderately higher than the levels seen in 2015. 

The group’s enduring success is founded on a number of major global trends: 

1. The continuous growth in the global population,

2. The growing middle class,

3. The growing demand for high-quality foods and beverages,

4. The increasing demand for production methods that are efficient and conserve valuable resources.

The United Nations assumes that the world’s population, which currently stands at more than 7.3 billion 

people, will rise over the coming years by around 80 million people per year (see World Population 

Prospects: The 2015 Revision; World Urbanization Prospects, 2014). The world’s population is set to 

grow to 8 billion by 2023. This means that, in future, significantly more food will have to be produced 

on more or less the same cultivation area. For this reason, the methods and production processes 

used must become much more efficient – which is why innovative process technology is needed. 

Linked to this growth is an increasing degree of urbanization. The number of people living in towns 

and cities rose from 746 million in 1950 to 3.9 billion in 2014. This means that more than half of the 

world’s population now lives in urban areas. This figure is set to expand by a further 2.5 billion 

people by 2050, particularly in Asia and Africa. In addition, more and more foods must be preserved 

for longer and be easier to transport in order to secure the necessary supplies for metropolitan areas 

and to maintain world trade. Here, as well, only state-of-the-art technologies can provide the capacity 

needed to cope with rising demand.  

Another factor is that, as the middle class grows, so will the number of people who will be able to 

afford processed foods, beverages, and dairy products. This is equally true for pharmaceutical 

products, which must meet the needs of an increasingly health-conscious population. 
 

Against the backdrop of the trends in the global economy and the food industry presented in this 

chapter, and the impact of the various megatrends on its direct sales markets, GEA is expecting 

growing demand for high-quality foods and, linked to this, ongoing high levels of investment in the 

food industry. Additionally, GEA is anticipating sustained customer interest in process optimization 

for improving efficiency, productivity, energy usage, and plant availability, which its technologies are 

able to provide. 

With regard to commodity prices, the World Bank (see Commodity Markets Outlook, October 2015) 

expects the prices of all industrial goods (energy, metals and minerals, as well as basic agricultural 

products) to remain at their 2015 levels in 2016. 

The Company does not believe that customer project finance will be significantly affected by 

uncertainty in the capital markets.
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The proportion of GEA’s revenue accounted for by the food industry in 2016 is expected to remain at 

its current high level. From a regional perspective, too, GEA is not anticipating any significant change 

in the current breakdown of revenue in 2016 as against the past fiscal year.

Business outlook 

The forecast is made under the assumption that there there will be no further slowdown in global 

economic growth and no significant exchange rate fluctuations. Acquisitions made in 2016 are not 

included in the calculation of the key performance indicators. The figures are also adjusted for non-

recurring items. Expected savings from group restructuring are already included in the forecast.

Revenue

GEA is aiming to generate moderate revenue growth in 2016. This forecast is largely due to the lower 

growth in capital goods that is expected in light of lower growth rates in the emerging markets. 

Although the significant fall in oil prices will generate growth momentum – with the exception of the 

oil processing industry and in the oil producing countries – the necessary structural reforms in some 

countries and the ongoing high geopolitical risk are perceived as having a negative impact on global 

economic growth. 

Earnings

We are expecting operating EBITDA of between EUR 645 million and EUR 715 million (previous 

year: EUR 621 million) for the current fiscal year. 

Cash flow driver margin

With respect to our operating cash flow drivers, i.e. the net amount of operating EBITDA, the change 

in working capital, and capital expenditure, we are aiming for a ratio to revenue of between 10.0 percent 

and 11.0 percent in 2016.

Further expectations 

Acquisitions
The strategy of acquiring companies to open up new markets for GEA or specifically expand GEA’s 

product portfolio in existing markets will remain unchanged and valid. This will enable us to provide 

our customers with an ever-broader range of services from a single source.

Dividend
The Executive Board and Supervisory Board will propose a dividend of EUR 0.80 per share for 2015 

to the Annual General Meeting. This would represent a total dividend volume EUR 154.0 million. This 

dividend payment would also be in line with our objective of distributing between 40 and 50 percent 

of the consolidated profit to the shareholders.



101GEA Annual Report 2015

Combined Group Management Report / Report on Expected Developments

Summary 

All told, provided that there is no further slowdown in the global economy, GEA expects the group as 

a whole to record moderate growth. The continual increase in profitability together with the ongoing 

focus on liquidity generation should help to ensure that we have the financial leeway to successfully 

implement the strategic growth targets. With regard to the distribution ratio, our objective is to keep 

distributing between 40 and 50 percent of the consolidated profit to the shareholders.

Düsseldorf, February 26, 2016

Jürg Oleas Dr. Helmut Schmale Steffen Bersch    Niels Erik Olsen        Dr. Stephan Petri


